PALACKÝ UNIVERSITY IN OLOMOUC

Faculty of Sciences

Department of Cell Biology



Regeneration and transformation of mature embryos

of B73 maize line

BACHELOR THESIS

Author:

David Ušák

Study program: B1406 Biochemistry

Field of Study: Biotechnology and Gene Engineering

Study form: Full-time

Supervisor: Mgr. Jan Bartoš, Ph.D.

2020

Year:

Prohlašuji, že jsem bakalářskou práci vypracoval samostatně s vyznačením všech použitých pramenů a spoluautorství. Souhlasím se zveřejněním bakalářské práce podle zákona č. 111/1998 Sb., o vysokých školách, ve znění pozdějších předpisů. Byl jsem seznámen s tím, že se na moji práci vztahují práva a povinnosti vyplývající ze zákona č. 121/2000 Sb., autorský zákon, ve znění pozdějších předpisů.

V Olomouci dne

Acknowledgement

I wish to express my gratitude to Mgr. Jan Bartoš, Ph.D. for his aid with elaboration of this bachelor thesis, his broad knowledge of the latest foci of maize research and his input on devising the thesis' synopsis. I would also like to thank Mgr. Martina Bednářová, whose knowledge and experience in the laboratory were fundamental for the successful execution of experiments in the practical part, along with her help with the interpretation of the thesis' outcomes. My appreciations also go to all employees and fellow students of Institute of Experimental Botany of the Czech Academy of Sciences, who always created friendly work environment, enabling me to perform necessary research.

Bibliografická identifikace

Jméno a příjmení autora	David Ušák
Název práce	Regenerace a transformace zralých embryí linie B73 kukuřice seté
Typ práce	Bakalářská
Pracoviště	Katedra buněčné biologie
Vedoucí práce	Mgr. Jan Bartoš, Ph.D.
Rok obhajoby práce	2020

Abstrakt

Genetická transformace rostlin je klíčová metoda základního i aplikovaného výzkumu rostlin. I když byly v minulosti vyvinuté univerzální, vysoce efektivní transformační systémy pro desítky modelových rostlin, transformace kukuřice jako zástupce jednoděložných rostlin zůstává stále neúčinná. Transformace explantátů odvozených ze zralých semen pomocí *Agrobacterium* již byla popsána dřív, avšak žádný efektivní transformační protokol nebyl dosud publikován.

Cílem této bakalářské práce, bylo ověřit dostupné regenerační systémy pro regeneraci meristematických kultur, odvozených ze zralých embryí zaužívané linie kukuřice seté, B73. Regenerační efektivita po 13 týdnech kultivace *in vitro* a následném přesunu do půdy *ex vitro*, dosáhla 0,9 – 5,9%. Tranzientní a stabilní transformace pomocí *Agrobacterium*, nesoucí vektor pCAMBIA 1303 s genem *GUSA*, byla provedena pro otestování susceptibility odvozených explantátů vůči dostupným transformačním systémům. GUS histochemický test byl vykonán pro zjištění eficience tranzientní a stabilní transformace, která dosáhla 80%, respektive 55,7%. Následné pokusy regenerovat transformované explantáty v dospělé rostliny byly ale neúspěšné.

Klíčová slova	kukuřice, transformace, <i>in vitro</i> regenerace, zralá semena, B73, <i>Agrobacterium tumefaciens</i>	
Počet stran	61	
Počet příloh	0	
Jazyk	anglický	

Bibliographical identification

Author's first name and surname	David Ušák
Title	Regeneration and transformation of mature embryos of B73 maize line
Type of thesis	Bachelor
Department	Department of Cell Biology
Supervisor	Mgr. Jan Bartoš, Ph.D.
The year of presentation	2020

Abstract

The genetic transformation of plants is the key method in both basic and applied plant research. Even if there have been universal, high-efficiency transformation systems developed for dozens of model plants, maize, among other monocotyledonous species still remains recalcitrant to most efforts. The use of *Agrobacterium* for the transformation of explants derived from mature seeds, has already been proposed in the past, however, no effective protocol has been established yet.

In this bachelor thesis, the focus was to examine available regeneration systems for the regeneration of mature embryo-derived meristem cultures of a well-established maize line B73. Regeneration rate of 0.9 – 5.9% was reached after up to 13 weeks of *in vitro* cultivation and subsequent soil transfer. Both transient and stable *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation with pCAMBIA 1303 harboring *GUSA*, was performed to analyze the amenability of the explants to the existing transformation systems. GUS histochemistry assay was used to test both transient and stable transformation rate, which reached 80% and 55.7%, respectively. Subsequent attempts to regenerate mature plants containing the transgene were unsuccessful.

Keywords	maize, transformation, <i>in vitro</i> regeneration, mature seeds, B73, <i>Agrobacterium tumefaciens</i>	
Number of pages	61	
Number of appendices	0	
Language	English	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1 Introduction	1
2 Current status of the maize research	2
2.1 Importance of Maize as a culture crop	2
2.2 Maize as a model organism in contemporary research	2
2.3 Maize tissue culture	4
2.3.1 Media composition in maize tissue culture	4
2.3.2 Plant growth regulators in maize tissue culture	5
2.3.3 Indirect maize regeneration	6
2.3.4 Direct maize regeneration	8
2.3.5 Baby boom/Wuschel system	9
2.4 Genetic transformation of maize	10
2.4.1 Transformation methods	11
2.4.1.1 Electroporation of protoplasts	12
2.4.1.2 Biolistic transformation	13
2.4.1.3 Agrobacterium-mediated transformation	14
2.4.2 Explant source's role in transformation	17
2.4.2.1 Immature vs mature embryos as the starting material	17
2.4.2.2 Transformation of mature maize seeds as starting materials	18
2.4.2.3 Shoot apical meristem transformation	19
2.4.3 Transgenic maize applications	20
3 Materials and methods	22
3.1 Materials	22
3.1.1 Plant material	22
3.1.2 Bacterial strains	22
3.1.3 Chemicals	22
3.1.4 Solutions and culture media	23
3.1.5 Equipment and devices	24
3.2 Methods	25
3.2.1 Seed sterilization	25
3.2.2 Martinez protocol	26
3.2.2.1 Shoot meristem culture preparation	26
3.2.2.2 Shoot meristem culture regeneration	26
3.2.3 Split internode approach	26
3.2.4 Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation	26
3.2.4.1 Bacteria culture preparation	26
3.2.4.2 GUS histochemistry assay	27
3.2.4.3 Transformed callus slices regeneration	28
4 Results and discussion	29
4.1 Shoot meristem culture regeneration	29
4.1.1 Martinez protocol	29
4.1.2 Split internode approach	29
4.2 Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated calli transformation	32
4.2.1 Strain effect on transient transformation assay	32

4.2.2 Transient transformation efficiency assay	33
4.2.3 Stable transformation efficiency assay	36
4.2.4 Transformed callus slice regeneration	37
5 Conclusion	39
6 Bibliography	40
7 List of abbreviations	52

AIMS OF THE THESIS

THEORETICAL PART

Elaboration of a literary review on the topic of monocot plants *in vitro* regeneration and transformation, with the focus on maize (*Zea mays*).

PRACTICAL PART

- 1. Verification of the possibility of mature maize embryos regeneration and transformation.
- 2. Verification of the enzymatic pretreatment effect on transformation.
- 3. Comparison of the transformation efficiency utilizing various *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strains.

1 INTRODUCTION

With the progress of the global climate change, the fluctuations in plant growth conditions all around the world are to be expected. In the modern biotechnology research, there is a focus on the improvement of agriculturally important crops like maize, to make them able to adapt to such environmental changes. Maize is a cereal crop grown worldwide for the production of food, livestock feed and also biomass for the industrial use. As such, the failure of the attempts to adapt maize to a gradually changing environment could threaten worldwide food security.

Genetic engineering of plants proved itself useful in generating new cultivars with beneficial traits quicker than traditional plant breeding, with a more specific way of genome alterations. Genetic transformation enables researchers and plant breeders to introduce foreign genes into an organism, that give it an advantage over wild-type lines and even elite hybrid lines used nowadays. However, there are still barriers to be overcome in the development of transgenic maize: most notably genotype-dependency of the transformation outcome, regeneration of stable transformants using plant tissue culture and the labor-intensity of protocols used, which prevent the universal adaptation of transgenic maize techniques.

The focus of this thesis is to provide reviewed summary of methods available nowadays for maize *in vitro* regeneration and transformation, along with their application in regeneration and transformation of maize cultivar B73, utilizing mature seeds as the starting material. Additionally, a novel approach in improving regeneration rate, the *BBM/WUS* system, is analyzed.

2 CURRENT STATUS OF THE MAIZE RESEARCH

2.1 Importance of Maize as a culture crop

Maize (Zea mays, family Poaceae), is one of the most essential plants in the world. It is the second most produced crop (after sugar cane) and the most produced cereal in the world, with over 1 billion metric tonnes (MT) produced in 2016 (FAO, 2018). Geographically, most of the produce origins from Americas and South East Asia, with USA, China and Brazil accountable for over 65% of corn produced worldwide in 2018, and with USA being the main producer and consumer of maize in the world (USDA, 2020). It has remained one of the most important crops for direct human consumption, even more so in African and Central American countries Lesotho, Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe, South Africa and Mexico, where daily per capita consumption of maize exceeds 200 g (Ranum et al., 2014). Corn is also used as an essential part of livestock feed as 36% of globally produced corn is utilized as animal feed; in USA the percentage reaches 67 % (Cassidy et al., 2013). Such importance is furthermore supported by corn usage in fuel industry for bioethanol production – 98% of all used plant species share in USA, 70% share in China and Canada (Balat and Balat, 2009) and by cornstarch, corn oil and corn sweetener production - with amount of corn consumption by weight of 6, 1.6 and 21.1 MT respectively – a share of 7.9% of total field corn use in USA (USDA, 2019).

2.2 Maize as a model organism in contemporary research

The origins of maize used as a culturally significant crop date back to roughly 9000 years ago to Central American region, most notably the contemporary Mexico. Even if there are many different theories on the actual genetic predecessor of maize, the most recognized hypothesis postulates that it evolved from teosinte, a collective of wild maize relatives (Mangelsdorf and Reeves, 1938; Wellhausen *et al.*, 1952; Galinat, 1971; Matsuoka *et al.*, 2002; Sánchez González *et al.*, 2018). The breeding effort undergone by locals to domesticate corn resulted in a phenotype modification from a vigorous, tall, multiple-stalk grass into a robust, single-stalk plant with naked grains on a girthy ear aligned in several rows (Wellhausen *et al.*, 1952; Doebley *et al.*, 2006; Hake and Ross-Ibarra, 2015).

The basis of maize research stems from the works of late-19th century researchers de Vries and Correns, who utilized its large size and distinctive phenotype for the study of xenia; a natural imprinting phenomenon occurring in plants, where the filial generation of fruit or seeds (in this case corn kernel) is affected by the pollen of the parental plant (Bulant and Gallais, 1998). Their successors' research – the studies of E.M. East and R.A. Emerson were similarly focused on Mendelian genetics, heritability and plant breeding. The main focus of maize research throughout 20th century was the development of lines with high adaptability to different environments and also large amount of grains which can be further processed without any decrease in the final kernel quality. High adaptability traits are crucial for developing beneficial corn lines. Cultivars that possess those traits can be grown in conditions ranging from dry to humid, from freezing to scorching. Such traits encompass resistance to abiotic stresses like drought, flooding, soil salinity or biotic stresses of fungal, bacterial or even animal parasites.

In plant research nowadays, maize is an important model organism, demonstrated by its various advantageous attributes. Firstly, its inherent genetic diversity and cosmopolitan nature of growing enables the plant to thrive in conditions present at the geographical latitude of 40°S to 58°N, therefore it can be field-grown by researchers all around the world (Troyer, 1996). Its inherent physiological characteristic of being monoecious plant possessing unisexual flowers distincts maize from other cereals with bisexual flowers, which have to undergo tedious emasculation to prevent self-pollination in laboratory conditions. Moreover, maize produces hundreds of seeds upon a single crossing, providing plant breeders with virtually unlimited amount of seeds for further labor (Strable and Scanlon, 2009; Wallace *et al.*, 2014).

The genome of maize contains approximately 32 000 genes dispersed among 2.5 billion base pairs (bp) – a size comparable to human genome with 25 000 genes and 2.9 billion bp. However, in maize there is an incredibly high portion of non-coding sequences (introns), which allow increased level of variation between lines, varying from single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) to larger-sized sequences – an advantage for breeding new exploitable lines. The most studied lines of maize are inbreds (lines created by crossing genetically similar organisms) – cultivars Mo17, W22 or B73,

which has also been in 2009 the first fully-sequenced maize genotype (Schnable *et al.*, 2009).

2.3 Maize tissue culture

Due to the immense strain on breeding new crop cultivars without using timeconsuming traditional methods, there has been a focus on establishing techniques that utilize plant at a cellular or tissue level rather than the plant as a whole. Plant tissue culture, which can be described as *in vitro* culturing of plant cells under strictly-set, reproducible and sterile conditions, has proven imperative in establishing protocols for quick cultivation of mature plants from singular tissues, their multiplication by clone production, flanking the seed-stage of a plant or for the propagation of plants from naturally seldom-germinating seeds (Hussain *et al.*, 2012). Indeed the ability to regenerate various explants like immature embryos (IEs) (embryos obtained from undeveloped corn ears), mature embryos (MEs), leaves, meristematic tissues, anthers or protoplasts remains crucial in providing large amounts of plants to be utilized by numerous biotechnological techniques (Pathi *et al.*, 2013).

The general process of *in vitro* tissue ontogenesis incorporates these steps: I. Isolation of explant tissue from the plant of origin; II. Adaptation of cells to growth medium and propagation into the callus cells (masses of dedifferentiated, totipotent cells whose main feature is that they can be regenerated into a whole plant); III. Differentiation of callus culture into organ primordia; IV. Regeneration of a fertile mature plant. If the cell cultures are subucultured on a regular basis, they may be preserved *in vitro* indefinitely (Efferth, 2019).

2.3.1 Media composition in maize tissue culture

In order to secure vigorous cell division and tissue propagation of explants, one must consider the optimal *in vitro* culturing conditions. Moreover, to reduce the risk of contamination, the plant is grown in a contained environment. Therefore, the exchange of gases in the cultivation vessel is limited, which requires the incorporation of all necessary nutrients directly in the growth media. Most of the growth media used nowadays are based on traditional media developed in the mid-20th century, derived from media used for whole-plant cultivation. Basing their observations on reviewing

known growth media used at the time, mostly for the growth of higher plants like Knop's solution, White's medium or Uspenski and Uspenskaia solution, Murashige and Skoog (MS) formulated new defined medium (Murashige and Skoog, 1962), which contained as much as 25-fold increase in some nutrients concentration, especially NH₄NO₃. This helped to steer the focus from prevalently used complex media containing protein hydrolysates and extracts, whose batch-to-batch composition varied. Thus, MS medium allowed new plant tissues to be cultured and remains the most used plant growth medium to this very day (Thorpe, 2007). An alternative to MS medium, N6 salts medium, was formulated by Chu et al., which contains a different NH₄⁺ ion source - (NH₄)₂SO₄ (Chu *et al.*, 1974). Nevertheless, in a study conducted to compare their effect on embryogenic callus induction frequency and transformation frequency, it was demonstrated that using MS medium achieved superior results (Frame *et al.*, 2006).

The composition of medium used in any protocol is strict and requires the containment of macronutrients, micronutrients, amino acids, carbon sources, vitamins and growth factors altogether. The representative compounds and their respective concentration may differ, however the exclusion of any of the major components usually results in poor growth performance or even plant death. Saad depicts a comprehensive list of the most commonly used medium components in contemporary research, providing guidance on optimal concentration of each compound (Saad and Elshahed, 2012).

2.3.2 Plant growth regulators in maize tissue culture

Because maize micropropagation protocols encompass several steps necessary for the proper development of a mature plant, different growth media, varying in the nutrient composition, and even more so in the additional factors, such as plant hormones, antibiotics or transformation promoters, are used in each step. Pioneer studies by Skoog and Miller (Skoog and Tsui, 1948; Miller *et al.*, 1955) led to the discovery of auxins and cytokinins, respectively, allowing even non-meristematic tissues to be cultured. The addition of these phytochemicals to a growth medium promotes cell expansion (auxins), cell division (cytokinins), cell elongation (gibberelins) or cell growth inhibition (abscisic acid) (Jones *et al.*, 1988). However, it was manifested that the hormones' ratio rather than a total concentration affects the micropropagation of the cultured tissues

(Allan, 1981). In maize regeneration studies nowadays, the most used plant regulators are auxins 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), 1-Naphtaleneacetic acid (NAA) and cytokinins 6-Benzylaminopurine (BAP) or kinetin (KIN) (Gould *et al.*, 1991; Ahmadabadi *et al.*, 2007; Abebe *et al.*, 2008; Kotchoni *et al.*, 2012; Pathi *et al.*, 2013).

Since each phytohormone affects different cell processes, their addition to the media is determined by the media purpose. The ratio of auxin concentration to cytokinin concentration is the main determinant of the tissue fate of the cultivated explant. By cultivating the explant on media with high auxin-to-cytokinin ratio, the induction of root growth is promoted. On the other hand, the cultivation on media with high cytokinin-toauxin ratio results in the shoot formation from the cultivated tissue (Motte *et al.*, 2014). Maintaining a neutral ratio is crucial in callus development *in vitro* (Muoma *et al.*, 2008; Ikeuchi *et al.*, 2013). However, the hormone concentration ratio in media varies by each regeneration protocol, and further composition adjustments might be required when employing different maize cultivars, explants or dissimilar hormones (even though they would belong to the same group of auxins, cytokinins, etc.).

2.3.3 Indirect maize regeneration

Although most of the explants used in maize tissue culture experiments are of pluripotent origin, to generate a mature plant while preventing necrosis, one should preserve the proliferative nature of explant cells during its adaptation to growth on a medium. This is usually done by inducing calluses (unorganized masses of plant cells), that are grown on solidified growth media amended with plant hormones (Green and Phillips, 1975). Maize callus initiation from any explant is based on early protocols utilizing IEs, and the basic course of action follows the induction of primary callus from scutellar region by culturing on growth medium with increased auxin concentrations and subsequent embryogenic callus induction by addition of cytokinins like BAP to subculture medium.

In order to succeed in regenerating a mature plant, the calli must undergo further morphogenetic changes. These can be of two types: organogenesis and embryogenesis (Chieng *et al.*, 2014). Organogenesis encompasses the formation of unipolar organs, such as shoots, roots or leaves, from the callus tissue, while embryogenesis follows the

induction of bipolar somatic embryos (Bhatia and Bera, 2015). Based on this, there are two described types of maize calli (Figure 1), classified according to their morphological and physiological differences – type I is an organogenic callus comprised of compact, more differentiated greenish cells, while type II remains embryogenic, with less associated friable cells, its color ranging from white to yellow (Sidorov *et al.*, 2006; Wang *et al.*, 2009).

After obtaining a viable population of calli, the organogenetic pathway seeks to regenerate a mature plant in two separate (and chronological) stages: shoot formation (caulogenesis) and root formation (rhizogenesis). In maize regeneration protocols, shoot formation is the predominant starting phase, developing shoot system that enables the future plantlet to produce its own energy by photosynthesis. For shoot formation, media differing in auxin and cytokinin concentrations are used. Subsequently, root formation by subculturing on rooting media is promoted. To provide enough space for vertical plantlet growth, the rooting media cultivation is usually carried out in Erlenmeyer flasks as opposed to Petri dishes. Plant growth regulators-free medium is then used to develop plantlets that can be regenerated into fully grown plants (Green and Phillips, 1975; Wang, 1987; Zhong *et al.*, 1992; Wei and Huang, 2004; Guruprasad *et al.*, 2016).



Figure 1: Main types of plant calli, as described by (Ikeuchi *et al.*, 2013). Friable type II calli often possess increased regeneration capability, compared to compact type I calli. After receiving proper stimuli (e.g. by the incorporation of phytohormones in growth media), these can be further reformed into shooty, rooty or embryonic calli.

A process of somatic embryogenesis - embryo development from a single nonzygotic cell, which resembles a zygotic embryo both morphologically and by the patterns of gene expression - can be used for the regeneration of both callus types. Nevertheless, because of its longer-lasting regeneration capability, type II callus is employed more routinely. Somatic embryogenesis enables to regenerate plants with both root and shoot system developing at the same time, effectively shortening the protocol length (Derkach et al., 2017). However, to overcome the possible poor performance (and response to the media) of the developing somatic embryos (SEs) of various maize cultivars used in the research, the development of a proficient maize line to use in in vitro experiments was needed. This led to the establishment of a purposespecific Hi-II hybrid line (descended from inbred lines' A188 x B73 cross), whose in vitro embryo regeneration rate may be as high as 68% (Abdel-Rahman and Widholm, 2010). Indeed, several papers describe using of Hi-II line in their callus culture protocols (Frame et al., 2000, 2002, 2011; Zhao et al., 2001; Wang and Frame, 2009; Lee and Zhang, 2014). Despite that, Hi-II line is not very convenient for maize breeding and transformation experiments, as its poor agronomic performance prevents extensive application in practice (Garrocho-Villegas et al., 2012; González et al., 2012; Pathi et al., 2013).

2.3.4 Direct maize regeneration

An alternative maize regeneration system, which flanks the callus stage of indirect regeneration, enables an even more significant decrease in the time needed for mature plant establishment. The starting explants are typically zygotic or meristematic in origin, as the totipotent state of the tissue is necessary to control direct morphogenesis (Elhiti and Stasolla, 2011). Even though, the addition of plant hormones in the growth media is mandatory to maintain the cell fate of cultured tissues. After formation of the organ primordia or somatic embryoids, the regeneration pathway is largely similar to indirect regeneration systems (as described before). To this date, direct regeneration of split nodes (Mushke *et al.*, 2016) and shoot tips (Zhong *et al.*, 1992; Sairam *et al.*, 2003) was described.

2.3.5 *Baby boom/Wuschel* system

One of the main challenges to overcome in maize tissue culture, is the overtime loss of totipotency of zygotic or meristematic cells in the developing explants. This is predominant in MEs, who have higher plant-hormone requirements for callus or somatic embryogenesis induction (Elhiti and Stasolla, 2011; Delporte *et al.*, 2014). This has been, of course, resolved by the addition of growth regulators like auxins and cytokinins directly to the growth media, however, it still remains not-100%-effective system. A supplementary method, first proposed in 1997, theorized that the introduction of genes responsible for plant hormone synthesis could not only increase *in vitro* regeneration capabilities, but also improve transformation efficiency (TE) of plants (Ebinuma *et al.*, 1997; Sugita *et al.*, 2000). It was also suggested, that the use of such transformation vectors could bypass the need for a selectable marker gene for the identification and selection of transformants. Such marker genes need to be eliminated after the selection step, while their removal adds to the labor intensity of the protocol (Richael *et al.*, 2008).

In maize, such problems could be alleviated by the use of *Baby Boom* (*BBM*)/*Wuschel* (*WUS*) system. *WUS* is a well-known gene, naturally expressed in the organizing center (OC) in the shoot apical meristem (SAM) of all plants, where it directs the fate of future meristematic cells by maintaining basal stem cell population (Laux *et al.*, 1996; Mayer *et al.*, 1998; Somssich *et al.*, 2016). As such, it was hypothesized, that its overexpression in explants *in vitro* could lead to the cell dedifferentiation of the subcultured tissues and subsequent somatic embryo formation. This was later confirmed in studies by (Zuo *et al.*, 2002; Bouchabké-Coussa *et al.*, 2013). Similarly *BBM* encodes transcription factor *Apetala2 Family/Ethylene Responsive Element Binding Factor* (*AP2/ERF*), which affects processes like cell proliferation and differentiation, embryogenesis and apomixis, along with increasing TE in various plants, both monocots and eudicots (Boutilier *et al.*, 2002; Passarinho *et al.*, 2008; Jha and Kumar, 2018), including maize (Salvo *et al.*, 2014).

Based on these findings there was a study published, which describes the overexpression of *Baby Boom (BBM)* and *Wuschel2 (WUS2)* genes, controlled by maize *Ubiquitin (pUBI)* and *Agrobacterium nopaline synthase (pNOS)* promoters, positively

affecting the TE in maize. The starting explants for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation were both IEs and MEs, with successful transformation of some recalcitrant inbred lines such as the Pioneer inbred PHH5G. It was also proven that both morphogenes are needed for the somatic embryogenesis induction. Two years later, the same research group published a follow-up study, transforming 7 maize inbred lines, including the recalcitrant B73, using the same set of genes. Reportedly, *BBM* was under the control of *Zea mays* phospholipid transferase protein promoter and *WUS2* driven by maize auxin-inducible promoter *pAXIG1*. The transformation frequency ranged from 9 to 96%, depending on the maize genotype used (Lowe *et al.*, 2016, 2018). Alternatively, an article specializing on using marker-independent transformation of sorghum and B73 inbred maize using *pUBI::BBM* and *pNOS::WUS2* containing Ti-plasmid was released (Mookkan *et al.*, 2017).

The main idea of these experiments is to use transformation (*Agrobacterium*mediated or biolistic) to stably introduce morphogenes into the plant genome, while being driven by a specific set of promoters. These promoters need to be inducible either by the addition of a supplementary nutrient in the medium (e.g. plant hormones) or different growth stages during plant ontogenesis. Such activation/deactivation of gene expression allows the controlled induction of organogenesis, somatic embryogenesis or callus formation, depending on the experimental design, surpassing the deviations in explant adaptation to growth media due to genotype differences, ontogenetic stages or simple variation between individual plants (Sultana and Gangopadhyay, 2018).

2.4 Genetic transformation of maize

Genetic transformation is a molecular biology method, during which a target cell is altered by introducing a foreign DNA molecule into the cell itself. To successfully produce transformed cells, the process must undergo two crucial events: 1. endogenous introduction of the foreign DNA and 2. incorporation of the molecule into the genome. These events are called transient and stable transformation, respectively (Altpeter *et al.*, 2016). There have been ongoing studies on transformation since 1920s, starting with Griffith's studies of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* natural transformation capabilities (Griffith, 1928). However successful experiments with artificial plant transformation

date back only to 1980s, when the construction of first *Agrobacterium*-mediated transgenic plants was reported (Barton *et al.*, 1983; Herrera-Estrella *et al.*, 1983; Hoekema *et al.*, 1983; Fraley *et al.*, 1983). The main difference between traditional breeding methods and transformation, is that transformation enables precise introduction of gene of interest into a plant, which is modified in a more controllable way. Moreover, a genetic transformation protocol may use the introduction of foreign genes (genes from unrelated species) into the organism, therefore it utilizes larger pool of the available genes.

The attempts to transfer foreign genes into maize were performed as early as in 1960s (Coe and Sarkar, 1966), however the first successfully transformed maize experiment was reported in 1986 (Fromm *et al.*, 1986) and no fertile pollen-producing plant had been recovered until 1990 (Gordon-Kamm *et al.*, 1990). The first transgenic maize plant, launched commercially in 1996 in USA, was Bt Corn – corn cultivar resistant to European Corn Borer parasites, and by 2015, there were 143 approved transgenic maize events, with approximately 30% of the area of all biotechnologically-enhanced crops utilized for genetically-modified maize cultivation (James, 2015; Yadava *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.1 Transformation methods

Because of the striking differences between all the model organism plants, there have been developed several ways of introducing the foreign DNA molecule into the organism. Even though particle bombardment and *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation protocols have been available since 1970s, there is not a universal, allencompassing technique available for every plant system yet. Nowadays, there are three main methods of genetic transformation of maize – electroporation, particle bombardment and *A. tumefaciens*-mediated transformation (Bennetzen and Hake, 2009; Rivera et al., 2012; Figure 2).



Figure 2: Simplified diagram of basic maize transformation methods employed nowadays. Note that prior to transformation, some protocols require *in vitro* cultivation of explants to obtain plant material amenable for transformation. Adapted from (Castellano-Hernández *et al.*, 2011).

2.4.1.1 Electroporation of protoplasts

The basis of electroporation method lies in the application of the electrical current to a suspension culture of maize protoplasts – cells that lack cell wall – to physically damage the cytoplasmic membrane, which becomes permeable for DNA molecules available in the solution. It belongs among the earliest methods used to transfer foreign genes of interest into maize cells, with Fromm creating the first transformed maize culture (Fromm et al., 1986) and Rhodes regenerating the first maize transgenic plant (Rhodes et al., 1988). The preparation of maize protoplasts is typically done by isolation from a callus culture and subsequent cell wall degradation using cellulase and pectinase enzyme cocktail (Imbrie-Milligan and Hodges, 1986; Planckaert and Walbot, 1989); the calli are usually derived from IEs, grown in an explant culture in vitro (Efferth, 2019). An alternative way to disrupting cell membrane using electric current, is to use a chemical polyethyleneglycol (PEG). It is an organic substance, non-toxic to plant cells, which acts in a similar manner of disrupting the plasmalemma (Bates, 1992). In practice, Golovkin employed PEG electroporation to introduce foreign vector harboring methatrexate (MTX) resistance into HE/89 maize hybrid line protoplasts, which were then regenerated into fertile plants on N6 salts-based medium and screened for resistance to MTX (Golovkin et al., 1993). Other papers were also concerned with developing transgenic maize cells, introducing chimeric neomycine resistance gene (neomycine phosphotransferase II; E.C 2.7.1.95) (D'Halluin *et al.*, 1992; Sukhapinda *et al.*, 1993), trehalose-6-phosphate synthase gene (E.C 2.4.1.15) from *Arabidopsis thaliana* (Almeida *et al.*, 2007) or phosphinotricine-N-acetyltransferase (bialaphos herbicide resistance; E.C. 2.3.1.183) (Laursen *et al.*, 1994).

Unfortunately, electroporation still remains quite harsh on the used cells and protocols requiring electricity treatment remain labor-intensive, being even more difficult in monocotyledonous plants, whose somatic cells such as mesofyll cells cannot be used to isolate protoplasts. This forces any researcher to resort to working with cumbersome embryogenic cell cultures. Moreover, culturing protoplasts for a long time usually results in the loss of regeneration capacity which projects the method largely ineffective (Wang *et al.*, 2009; Yadava *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.1.2 Biolistic transformation

A somewhat more effective approach to transfer systems is particle bombardment, also known as a biolistic treatment method. The first gene guns were invented roughly 30 years ago (Sanford et al., 1987), and it took only a decade to establish the first protocols of using microprojectiles harboring nucleic acid molecules in artificial endogenous transport of foreign DNA into maize cell cultures (Fromm et al., 1990). A typical gene gun employs inert metal particles like gold (more uniform in shape and size) or tungsten (less expensive and slightly phytotoxic) coated with DNA (Oneto et al., 2011), which are "fired" into the tissue at high velocity using high-pressure helium as the carrier substance. The mechanism of the bombardment is ensured by a plastic macrocarrier carrying the particles, which is driven by the gas to a stopping screen – the inertial force propels the microparticles towards the sample (Bio-Rad, 2019a). Particles then penetrate the tissue without inflicting fatal damage to the cells themselves (Oneto et al., 2011). The undoubting advantage of this method is its universal nature, making it able to transform virtually any cell type or subcellular compartment of nearly any plant species (Vain et al., 1995). The prime explants being targeted in biolistic transformation protocols in maize are IEs, which can be bombarded directly (Gordon-Kamm et al., 1990; Walters et al., 1992; Hill et al., 1995; Frame et al., 2000) or through suspension culture system initiated from the IE (Gordon-Kamm et al., 1990; Fromm et al., 1990).

Even if the majority of biolistic transformation experiments use high-pressure gene guns (HPGG), such as PDS-1000/He originally trademarked by Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA), that facilitate anorganic microparticles of diameter between 0.6-1.6 µm (Bio-Rad, 2019b), there has been an intriguing research into the use of bacterial cells as the vectors for the bombardment protocol. The bacteria adopted were *Escherichia coli* and *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, which were fired by Helium-based HPGG to transform tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) cells. Reportedly hundreds of transient transformants were produced (Rasmussen *et al.*, 1994).

Despite the efficiency of microparticle bombardment of maize cells being highly genotype-dependent, affected by the developmental state, projectile accessibility or the ability of the transformed cells to regenerate using tissue culture methods, biolistic transformation is often reported as the major transformation method to be used on maize (Wang *et al.*, 2009), with several studies reporting successfully generated transgenic cell lines using this method (Cao *et al.*, 1990; Hill *et al.*, 1995; Jardinaud *et al.*, 1995; Kausch *et al.*, 1995; Zhong *et al.*, 1996; Brettschneider *et al.*, 1997; Bohorova *et al.*, 1999; Wright *et al.*, 2001; El-Itriby *et al.*, 2003; Wang and Frame, 2009; Du *et al.*, 2014).

2.4.1.3 Agrobacterium-mediated transformation

The most widely employed biological method, *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation is another method of gene transfer applicable in plant biology research. *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, which is a rod-shaped gramnegative soil bacterium, is used as the vector mediator, inserting the foreign DNA molecule inside the cell. First reported in 1907, Smith acknowledged that a new type of plant tumor – a so-called crown gall tumor – is caused by *A. tumefaciens* (back then called *Bacterium tumefaciens*) (Smith, 1907), however the molecular causative agent behind the uncontrolled proliferation of tumor cells was reported many years later in 1970s (Chilton *et al.*, 1977; Márton *et al.*, 1979).

In order to introduce its plasmid, carrying T-DNA, inside the cell, *Agrobacterium* naturally utilizes open wounds to surpass cell walls. After wounding, the damaged root cells of dicotyledonous plants produce and accumulate phenolic secondary metabolites

like acetosyringone or hydroxyacetosyringone that protect the site from nematodes, insects, fungi or bacteria (Lattanzio *et al.*, 2006; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2010). However, these compounds attract nitrogen-fixing symbiotic bacteria like *Agrobacterium* and *Rhizobium* which are allowed to enter the tissue. This happens by inducing pathogenic *VIR* genes located on the tumor-inducing Ti plasmid along with a T-DNA segment to be integrated into plant cell's own genome (Engström *et al.*, 1987; Bourras *et al.*, 2015), containing genes for the biosynthesis of opines like nopaline or octopine – nutrients crucial for the bacterial survival, whose type determines the *Agrobacterium* strain (Gordon and Christie, 2014).

However, since monocotyledonous species do not have the same wounding response as dicotyledonous species (they do not secrete acetosyringone along with other plant phenolics) (Raja *et al.*, 2010), cereals including maize are especially recalcitrant to *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. It was demonstrated in the past, that the cereals are insusceptible to *Agrobacterium*, not being its natural host organism (Fromm *et al.*, 1986; Ji *et al.*, 2013; Hiei *et al.*, 2014; Singh and Prasad, 2016; Anand and Jones, 2018). Moreover, differences in monocotyledon cell wall composition, mismatched receptor proteins for *VIR* genes, Ti plasmid selectivity, along with the transgene inactivation by methylation, mutually contribute to the inherent resistance to *Agrobacterium* (Sood *et al.*, 2011).

Nevertheless, the discovery of the inter-species DNA transfer provided a promising system in gene transfer, although some modifications were necessary to achieve its full potential. It has been well-known that *Agrobacterium* pathogenic infection kickstarts uncontrollable cell division, driven by the synthesis of auxins like indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) or cytokinins like trans-zeatin. whose biosynthetic pathway is encoded by the Ti plasmid (Regier and Morris, 1982; Liu *et al.*, 1982; Bevan and Chilton, 1982). Therefore, the resulting root tumor growth would limit the method's application quite extensively. As a result, all oncogenes (genes responsible for the tumor formation) had to be eliminated from the plasmid artificially.

Because the incorporation of T-DNA inside the plant genome is uncommon, scientists had to develop a system which would enable researchers an easy identification of transformed plants over the non-transformed. The most convenient way was to insert a marker gene – a gene that helps to determine whether the foreign DNA was introduced – flanked by a plant regulatory sequence, into the T-DNA region along with the gene of interest. Such marker genes may have a biochemical effect, giving the transformed plants an advantage over the non-transformed (antibiotic or herbicide resistance) or spectroscopic, which makes the transformed plants visually distinct to non-transformed (for example the enzyme β -glucuronidase catabolizing the conversion of a colorless substrate into a colored product) (Yuan, 2012).

In addition to unmodified Ti plasmids containing unwanted genes responsible for phytohormone synthesis, they are also very large in size, ranging from 200 to 800 kbp, therefore there is only a small chance of any plasmid containing unique restriction sites necessary for a quick and simple cloning of genes of interest into the molecule. To overcome these problems, a binary vector system was developed. It utilizes a small binary vector containing a transgene along with a plant selectable reporter gene, flanked together by left and right border sections (conserved 25bp direct repeat sequences), a mutual origin of replication (ori site) for both Escherichia coli and Agrobacterium and a bacterial selection marker. The transgene introduction takes place in E. coli after which the cells are selected by growing on a medium containing antibiotic to which transformed colonies contain resistance. A functioning plasmid is subsequently cloned into Agrobacterium cells possessing shortened helper vector accommodating G genes necessary for the successful introduction of T-DNA from the binary vector into the plant cell (Frandsen, 2011; Yuan, 2012; Lacroix and Citovsky, 2013). Other techniques and vector systems used in Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation are described in (Gelvin, 2003).

The first maize transformation experiments utilizing *Agrobacterium* date back to 1990s (Gould *et al.*, 1991; Shen *et al.*, 1993; Ritchie *et al.*, 1993), over a decade after the first highly-efficient transformation experiments from the start of 1980s (Márton *et al.*, 1979; An, 1985), with the results being somewhat unremarkable. The first research group establishing high TE of 5-30% (Ishida *et al.*, 1996) listed several factors like explant type, bacterial strain, medium composition or bacterial composition as critical to achieve high TE, which proved the need for the further optimization of this method (Wang *et al.*, 2009). To surpass the challenges presented by the resistance of maize to

Agrobacterium, several research groups attempted to establish efficient transformation systems by studying agroinfiltration and microinjection of bacteria into developing shoot meristems (Escudero *et al.*, 1996), effective preparation of suitable explants (Zhong *et al.*, 2018), co-cultivation time effect on the TE (Didoné *et al.*, 2018) or growth medium concentration and composition (Frame *et al.*, 2006; Souza *et al.*, 2017). Routine transformation protocols, most with considerable transformation frequencies, were established (Frame *et al.*, 2002, 2011; Sidorov *et al.*, 2006; Ishida *et al.*, 2007; Ahmadabadi *et al.*, 2007; Lee and Zhang, 2014; Cho *et al.*, 2014; Anand *et al.*, 2018; Du *et al.*, 2019).

2.4.2 Explant source's role in transformation

Since transformation performance of maize depends on *in vitro* tissue culture methods, there should be consideration put in choosing and culturing the right plant tissue while preparing maize transformation protocols. There is a wide range of explants available from a single plant, however the research is focused on explants with a high capacity to proliferate (stem cells) in simulated conditions *ex vivo*. The main need for the use of stem cells is the capability of quick regeneration of transformed, fully-mature plant from tissues that are limited in size (Singh and Prasad, 2016). Totipotency, the ability of a cell or tissue to form any tissue of an organism by specific differentiation and therefore grow a whole organism (Condic, 2014) is a crucial characteristic of explants like IEs, root and shoot apical meristems or nodal regions. Indeed, they remain the most used source in maize transformation experiments (Wang *et al.*, 2009).

2.4.2.1 Immature vs mature embryos as the starting material

The most developed system of maize transformation, utilizing IEs, has been in use for 30 years since the advent of maize transformation experiments. Immature maize embryo's endosperm has been used as an explant in plant tissue culture systems since 1940s (Ahsan *et al.*, 2000; Thorpe, 2007). IEs are undeveloped maize seed parts, which are harvested from undeveloped corn ears by manual excision 12 to 18 days after pollination (DAP) (Schlappi and Hohn, 1992; Garrocho-Villegas *et al.*, 2012). However, the period-sensitive nature of IE maturation does not enable researchers to store the explants in artificial conditions (refrigerated), which forces study groups to exploit

valuable greenhouse space and additional skilled staff for year-round corn plant cultivation to ensure stable supply of quality IEs. Nevertheless, IEs have been crucial in maize transformation research and continue to be used to this very day, with reports of successful biolistic (Songstad *et al.*, 1996; El-Itriby *et al.*, 2003; Xu *et al.*, 2010) and *Agrobacterium* transformation systems (Schlappi and Hohn, 1992; Frame *et al.*, 2011; Didoné *et al.*, 2018).

Realizing the disadvantages posed by IEs as the explants of choice for calli cultures, scientists were eager to establish tissue culture systems from alternative organs prone to transformation and regeneration efforts. MEs have several advantages over IEs: after harvest, they can be easily stored for practically indefinite amount of time; there is no need for their laborious extraction; after maturation, all of the embryos are in the same developmental state unlike IEs where the embryos growing in a mid-part of the ear are more-developed than embryos at both ends, therefore their use provides higher yield per single corn knob (Garrocho-Villegas *et al.*, 2012). Currently, there are two ways how MEs can be efficiently subcultured on media: by producing either scutellum-derived embryogenic calli or meristematic multi-shoot cultures (MSCs) from apical protomeristems of germinating seedling (Torney *et al.*, 2007).

2.4.2.2 Transformation of mature maize seeds as starting materials

Despite the numerous aforementioned advantages of MEs for the effortless use as an explant, there has only been a handful of successful experiments utilizing fullydeveloped corn seed for transformation. The experiments utilize the germination of seed and the subsequent excision of nodal parts that contain apical and adventitious meristems which are subcultured to induce the growth of embryogenic calli. The calli are then transformed by particle bombardment or by co-cultivation with *A. tumefaciens* (Wang *et al.*, 2003; Sidorov *et al.*, 2006). An alternative protocol, that describes *A. tumefaciens* transformation of non-germinated maize seedlings and their subsequent germination in the soil, was also published (Wang *et al.*, 2007).

2.4.2.3 Shoot apical meristem transformation

The direct targeting of apical meristem as the explant-of-choice for transformation, tries to capitalize on the proliferative nature of germ-cells in plants' apices. Located at the far end of plants' stem, the SAM is comprised of small amount of totipotent cells. These stem cells are further organized in three layers: L1, L2 and L3, the last one not being present in cereals (Figure 3). The main function of SAM is to establish new organs – leaves, flowers and floral organs – during the ontogenesis of a plant (Takacs *et al.*, 2012; Murray *et al.*, 2012). Because of SAM's natural plasticity in *in vitro* cultures, SAM can be easily propagated into a callus, with the potential for an indefinite sustainability of its proliferative character.

There are several methods available for the transformation of shoot apical meristem, however only two methods utilize mature seed as the starting materials. First method follows the excision of SAM from the mature zygotic embryo, which is subsequently transformed; while the second requires germination of the seed and micropropagation of meristematic tissues to establish calli cultures – also called as shoot meristem cultures (SMCs) (Sticklen and Oraby, 2005). SMCs have been used in several experiments targeting a wide variety of maize lines. Among the first studies, the biolistic method was tested on 16 genotypes with the relative efficiency of 0.6 to 6.7% (Zhong *et al.*, 1996). Further research proved that SAM is indeed a potential explant for transformation (Zhang *et al.*, 2002; O'Connor-Sánchez *et al.*, 2002; Sairam *et al.*, 2003).



Figure 3: Structure of shoot apical meristem. Cell layers L1, L2 and L3 are indicated by the increase in color saturation. The location of *Wuschel* expression of is marked by a red circle. CZ = central zone; PZ = peripheral zone; P = leaf primordia. Adapted from (Sablowski, 2007).

2.4.3 Transgenic maize applications

The use of genetic engineering methods in maize research undoubtedly provides farmers and breeders with new potential transgenic lines, that usually harbor one or more advantageous genes for the plant. Considering that the ability of a maize cultivar to be transformed is genotype-dependent, and most of the agronomically-interesting lines remain recalcitrant to transformation efforts, the introduction of such advantageous genes into elite germplasm is still carried out by recurrent breeding, with several selection cycles needed to develop a commercially-applicable line.

Since 1996, the release year of the first genetically-modified maize cultivar – the Roundup-Ready corn (Lebrun *et al.*, 1997), which harbors the resistance to glyphosate, there has been an outbreak of newly-developed transgenic maize varieties, and by 2020, 238 maize varieties were released (ISAAA, 2020, as of 22/2/2020). Among the possible advantageous traits commonly inserted into maize and plants in general are herbicide resistance, pathogen resistance to pests like European corn borer (Bt Corn) (Koziel *et al.*, 1993), viral resistance (e.g. to maize dwarf mosaic virus) (Murry *et al.*, 1993) and drought resistance (Wang *et al.*, 2015). Despite the development of genetically modified maize being a time-saving process of procuring advantageous crops, the beneficial genes from wild-growing mutants can also be introduced by traditional breeding methods. Indeed several research groups reported the establishment of maize lines

possessing profitable traits, without using genetic engineering methods (Parker *et al.*, 1990; Newhouse *et al.*, 1991; Abel *et al.*, 2001). Some traits like European corn borer resistance, however, are polygenic, which means that to obtain the full level of resistance, the breeder must succeed in transferring all the critical genes during the crossing; the difficulty is increased even more by the fact that naturally-occurring mutations are often recessive by nature, which further prevents a simple selection process. Additionally most of the maize lines growing in nature are of poor agronomic performance and are therefore inadequate for quality germplasm development (Scott and Pollak, 2005).

Nowadays, maize remains the crop with the most approved transgenic events (either singular or two or more events stacked together), the two most used traits introduced into maize being herbicide and insect resistance. It is the second-most planted GM crop (after soybean), growing on 33% of the total GM crops-planted area – 60.6 million hectares accounting for as much as 26% of the total corn-planted area. Out of all cultivated transgenic corn, 12% is herbicide tolerant, 10% insect-resistant and 78% had both traits incorporated (ISAAA, 2016; Pellegrino *et al.*, 2018).

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

3.1.1 Plant material

Maize immature seeds of elite inbred genotype B73 were used as the main plant material, obtained from Agricultural Research Service of U.S. Department of Agriculture (Accession number PI550473).

3.1.2 Bacterial strains

Agrobacterium tumefaciens strains AGL-1, LBA4404 and EHA 105, kindly provided by Ing. Vojtěch Hudzieczek, Ph.D. from the Institute of Biophysics of the Czech Academy of Sciences, were used for transformation experiments. Each strain contained pCAMBIA 1303 plasmid harboring β -glucuronidase reporter gene (*GUSA*) under the control of *CaMV35S* promoter. Bacterial colonies were stored in glycerol stocks at -80 °C.

3.1.3 Chemicals

- Ampicillin (AMP), Fluka
- Acetosyringone (AS), Sigma-Aldrich
- Beef extract, HiMedia
- 6-Benzylaminopurine (BAP), Sigma-Aldrich
- 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-glucuronide (X-Gluc), ThermoFisher Scientific
- Casein hydrolysate, Duchefa
- Cellulase, Sigma-Aldrich
- 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), Duchefa
- Disodium phosphate Na₂HPO₄, Sigma-Aldrich
- Ethanol CH₃CH₂OH, Lach-ner
- Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), Sigma-Aldrich
- Gelrite, Duchefa
- Kanamycin (KAN), Fluka
- Kinetin (KIN), Duchefa
- Krystal Sanan bleach, Cormen

- Monosodium phosphate NaH₂PO₄, Sigma-Aldrich
- 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid (MES), Duchefa
- Murashige and Skoog (MS) basal salts. Duchefa
- 1-Naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA), Sigma-Aldrich
- Pectinase, Sigma-Aldrich
- Peptone, HiMedia
- Phytoagar. Duchefa
- Potassium ferricyanide K₃[Fe(CN)₆], Sigma-Aldrich
- Potassium ferrocyanide K₄[Fe(CN)₆]·3H₂O, Sigma-Aldrich
- Rifampicine (RIF), Sigma-Aldrich
- Sodium chloride NaCl, Cormen
- Spectinomycine (SPE), Sigma-Aldrich
- Sucrose, Lach-ner
- Timentin (TIM), Duchefa
- Triton X-100, Sigma-Aldrich
- Tween-20, Sigma-Aldrich
- Yeast extract, Duchefa

3.1.4 Solutions and culture media

All media dissolved in sterile water.

- <u>CSMD9B:</u>

MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹), casein hydrolysate (500 mg.l⁻¹), BAP (2 mg.l⁻¹), 2,4-D (0.5 mg.l⁻¹) – pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.l⁻¹)

- <u>SMC REG:</u>
 MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹) pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.l⁻¹)
- <u>GERM M:</u>

MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹), BAP (3 mg.l⁻¹), 2,4-D (5 mg.l⁻¹) - pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.l⁻¹)

- <u>CPM Dark:</u>

MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹), BAP (1 mg.l⁻¹), 2,4-D (2 mg.l⁻¹) - pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.l⁻¹)

- <u>REGEN M:</u>

MS (4.4 g.1⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.1⁻¹), NAA (0.5 mg.1⁻¹), BAP (2 mg.1⁻¹), KIN $(1 \text{ mg.1}^{-1}) - \text{pH 5.8}$ (KOH 1 mol.1⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.1⁻¹)

- <u>YEB medium:</u>

Yeast extract (1 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (5 g.l⁻¹), peptone (5 g.l⁻¹), MgCl₂ (0.5 mg.l⁻¹), beef extract (5 g.l⁻¹) – pH 6.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹), bactoagar (15 g.l⁻¹) (omit for liquid variant), RIF (0.5 mg.l⁻¹), KAN (1 mg.l⁻¹)

- <u>Infection medium:</u>
 MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹), casein hydrolysate (500 mg.l⁻¹), BAP (2 mg.l⁻¹),
 MES (4264 mg.l⁻¹), 2,4-D (0.5 mg.l⁻¹), AS (100 μmol.l⁻¹) pH 5.4 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹)
- <u>Enzymatic pretreatment solution:</u>
 Pectinase (0.03 g.ml⁻¹), cellulase (0.03 g.ml⁻¹), dissolve in Infection media
- <u>Co-cultivation medium:</u> MS (4.4 g.1⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.1⁻¹), casein hydrolysate (500 mg.1⁻¹), BAP (2 mg.1⁻¹),
 2,4-D (0.5 mg.1⁻¹), L-cysteine (300 mg.1⁻¹), AS (100 μmol.1⁻¹) – pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.1⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.1⁻¹)
- <u>Resting medium:</u> MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹), casein hydrolysate (500 mg.l⁻¹), BAP (2 mg.l⁻¹), 2,4-D (0.5 mg.l⁻¹), AMP (500 mg.l⁻¹) – pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹), gelrite (2.8 g.l⁻¹)
- Washing medium:

MS (4.4 g.l⁻¹), sucrose (30 g.l⁻¹), casein hydrolysate (500 mg.l⁻¹), BAP (2 mg.l⁻¹), 2,4-D (0.5 mg.l⁻¹), AMP (500 mg.l⁻¹), TIM (100 mg.l⁻¹) – pH 5.8 (KOH 1 mol.l⁻¹)

 <u>GUS staining solution</u> Triton X-100 (0.1% v/v), EDTA (10 mmol.1⁻¹), potassium ferrocyanide (2 mmol.1⁻¹), potassium ferricyanide (2 mmol.1⁻¹), Na₂HPO₄ (100 mmol.1⁻¹), NaH₂PO₄ (100 mmol.1⁻¹), X-Gluc (2 mmol.1⁻¹)

3.1.5 Equipment and devices

- air displacement micropipette, Nichipet
- analytical balance, Sartorius spol. s.r.o.

- autoclave, BMT Medical Technology s.r.o.
- benchtop orbital shaker, Thermo Fisher Scientific s.r.o.
- digital camera Nikon D5600, Nikon Corporation
- electronic balance, Cole-Parmer
- laminar flow box, Thermo Fisher Scientific s.r.o.
- microbiological incubator, Laboratorní přístroje Praha
- multifunction centrifuge, Jouan
- pH meter, WTW s.r.o.
- plant LED incubator, Thermo Fisher Scientific s.r.o.
- vacuum controller, KNF Neuberger Inc.

3.2 Methods

All work was carried out under sterile conditions in flow-box, unless stated otherwise.

3.2.1 Seed sterilization

Immature maize seeds were incubated for up to 3 days in sterile water. Water was decanted and the seeds were sterilized in sterile 50 ml centrifuge tube with 70% ethanol for 3 minutes, followed by 50% Krystal Sanan (local brand bleach) for 30 minutes. The bleach was removed and seeds were washed 4 times with sterile water to remove the excess detergent from the tube. Using sterile Petri dish as a cutting board and a scalpel, the seed tip cap was cut off and the embryo was cut out from the seed. Excess endosperm was removed from the embryo. Radicle was cut off and the remaining embryo was put in Petri dish, filled with distilled water to prevent drying out. The dissected embryos were subsequently sterilized in sterile 50 ml centrifuge tube using 15% bleach and washed 4 times by sterilized water. The embryos were placed in the groups of six per one Petri dish to the respective germination medium, with the scutellar side facing upwards, and cultivated at 28 °C, 16 h photoperiod with 140 μ mol.m⁻².s⁻¹ light intensity (same conditions were used in all experiments, except where noted).

3.2.2 Martinez protocol

3.2.2.1 Shoot meristem culture preparation

For germination, CSMD9B medium was used. After 2 weeks cultivation, when the seedlings were at least 2-3 cm long, the shoots and scutellum were cut off, with the remaining shoot apical meristem located between the primordial leaf bases being cultivated on fresh CSMD9B medium. The process was repeated twice for 4-5 weeks, until calli of 3 cm diameter were formed. New developing shoots should be observed before continuing further.

3.2.2.2 Shoot meristem culture regeneration

The newly-grown SMCs were transferred to regeneration medium (SMC REG) to induce roots formation. Explants were subcultured every two weeks till a developed root system is visible. Plantlets were then transferred to a pressed, wet soil mixture of 1:1 peat moss and perlite for mature plant regeneration, and covered with plastic foil for 1 week to keep optimal humidity. After a week, to prevent plants drying out, each pot's soil moisture was checked every 1-2 days and watered accordingly. After 3 weeks, developing plants were transferred to larger pots.

3.2.3 Split internode approach

Sterile maize seeds were germinated on GERM M for 2-3 weeks to grow plantlets of significant size. The noticeably yellow bulged internodes were cut out and split in two using scalpel. Afterwards, they were placed on CPM Dark with the cut-side down to help establish better nutrient uptake from the medium, and cultivated at 28 °C in the dark to form an embryogenic callus. After 3 weeks or after the sizable calli were propagated, they were transferred to REGEN M to develop shoot system of 2-3 cm length. Afterwards, the calli were transferred to SMC REG to develop new root. Adaptation of the developing plantlets to soil was carried out as described above.

3.2.4 Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation

3.2.4.1 Bacteria culture preparation

A. tumefaciens glycerol stock, stored at -80 °C, was removed from the freezer into a rubber test tube container chilled at -20 °C. Using bacterial loop, the slightly thawed

cultures were streaked on solid YEB medium and cultivated at 28 °C for up to 24 h, until isolated colonies were visible. The isolated colonies were inoculated using sterile toothpick or cotton bud into liquid YEB medium, submerged under the liquid surface. *Agrobacterium* was grown on liquid medium in a rotary flask shaker at 28 °C, 250 rpm for 24-28 hours, until $OD_{600} = 1.2$ was reached. The optical density was measured by pipetting 1 ml of bacterial culture into a plastic cuvette in sterile conditions, and using spectrophotometer, the absorbance at 600 nm was measured. Liquid YEB media was used as a blank.

Bacterial cultures were centrifuged at 15 °C, 2268 xg for 15 min and resuspended in Infection media, the OD₆₀₀ adjusted to 0.8. Calli, obtained from the plant tissue culture experiments, were cut under sterile conditions to \sim 3 mm pieces using scalpel, and placed into sterile 50 ml centrifuge tube, which was subsequently filled with 20 ml enzymatic pretreatment solution and incubated for 9 minutes. After the incubation, the digesting solution was removed and explant slices were rinsed thoroughly with Infection media. 20 ml of *Agrobacterium* solution was then added into centrifuge tubes. Alternatively, the enzyme pretreatment step was omitted.

Sliced embryogenic calli incubated with *Agrobacterium* in Infection medium were placed in a desiccator for 30 min in 4900 Pa vacuum to promote the transformation. Afterwards, Infection medium was drawn off and the calli pieces were dried on sterile filter paper to remove excess *Agrobacterium*. Under sterile conditions, pieces were cultivated on Co-cultivation medium for 5 days.

3.2.4.2 GUS histochemistry assay

GUS staining protocol was based on (Pečinka *et al.*, 2009). After 5 days of cocultivation, the slices were washed using Washing solution and placed in a 5 ml plastic test tube. They were pressed inside using a nylon mesh, to keep them submerged and GUS staining solution was added. In a vacuum of 49 Pa in a desiccator, they were stained for 15 min and then moved to 37 °C incubator for 24 h or overnight, in the dark. GUS staining solution was drained and replaced with 70% ethanol to destain chlorophyll. Ethanol was changed every 2-3 hours. After 24-48 h, the pieces were observed under stereo-microscope and the number of successful transformants was recorded. Transformation frequency was calculated as a number of *GUSA* expressing calli divided by total number of assayed pieces, per each repeat.

3.2.4.3 Transformed callus slices regeneration

Calli slices, cultivated on Co-cultivation medium, were washed with Washing solution and moved to Resting media for one week. Antibiotics were used to inhibit potential development of *Agrobacterium* colonies and prevent bacterial overgrowth. After 7 more days, calli were subcultured on REGEN M (As described in split internode approach) to develop new shoot system. 3 weeks later, the surviving calli slices were transferred to CPM Dark to induce callus formation. The regeneration efficiency of stable transformants was recorded after 6 weeks of cultivation on CPM Dark.

4 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

4.1 Shoot meristem culture regeneration

4.1.1 Martinez protocol

This protocol was based on work by (Martínez Nicolás, 2008). All of the surviving maize SMCs, cultivated for 11 weeks, were transferred to pots and grown at 28 °C, 16/8 h photoperiod for 12 weeks, being watered accordingly. The regeneration efficiency was determined as the percentage of plantlets surviving the whole protocol. Out of the total number of 222 sown embryos divided into 37 Petri dishes, 5 plantlets with developed root and shoot system from *in vitro* cultivation were moved to the pots, with 2 plants surviving the harsher *ex vivo* conditions. Most of the *in vitro* cultured explants were lost either due to necrosis (as the result of poor adaptation to subculturing on new media), or contamination. Poor adaptation to soil was also the main factor affecting the regeneration efficiency of pot-grown plants, resulting in the death of three regenerants. The regeneration efficiency reached 0.9%.

4.1.2 Split internode approach

All work was performed according to (Pathi *et al.*, 2013). Maize calli, developed by meristem culture from bulged internodes, underwent shoot induction and rooting, induced by the subcultivation on REGEN M and SMC REG, respectively, in the consecutive protocol steps (Figure 4A-E). Newly-formed plantlets (after 10 weeks cultivation), ready for the transfer to the soil, were moved to the pots filled with a mixture of peat moss and perlite. It was managed to develop 12 plantlets successfully responding to caulogenesis and rhizogenesis. A total of 12 pots were sown, each containing a regenerating plantlet (Figure 4F). Out of the 202 cultivated zygotic embryos, this accounted for 5.9% regeneration efficiency.

The prime cause of callus death during the *in vitro* phase was necrosis, induced by subculturing on media, which resulted in the small amount of plantlets available for *ex vitro* transfer. In comparison to the original protocol, which described the total period of 2 months (or 50-56 days) needed to regenerate a viable plantlet from a mature seed, the total *in vitro* cultivation time was longer by approximately 14 more days (split internode

protocol) and 21 days (Martinez protocol), respectively. This was due to the repetition of the rooting step by cultivation on SMC REG, as the roots had not been developed yet, in both situations. The reported regeneration rate was 90% for the same REGEN M composition used, nevertheless, in the original study, local Indian maize cultivar HPQM-1 was used in comparison to the line B73, utilized in this thesis (Pathi *et al.*, 2013). Similarly, another Indian cultivar, HQPM-5, was used in mature seeds regeneration study, where it was managed to reach plantlet stage in 9 weeks of *in vitro* cultivation (Mushke *et al.*, 2016). (Abebe *et al.*, 2008) reported a similar regeneration time of 9-12 weeks to obtain viable plantlets (lines KAT and CML 216). However, to this date, B73 maize regeneration utilizing mature seeds as the starting material was reported only twice, firstly by (Wang, 1987) with the regeneration rate reaching 4-5% – similar to results in this study; and also by (Martínez Nicolás, 2008), in a work which was a basis for this thesis. In the latter, no regeneration efficiency data was recorded.



Figure 4: Respective steps of maize mature embryo regeneration A: Freshly sterilized, dissected and sown mature embryos, cultivated on GERM M medium; week of cultivation (WOC) = 0. B: Development of plantlets from the germinated embryos, grown on GERM M medium; WOC = 2. C: Proliferative embryogenic calli, induced by the cultivation on CPM Dark medium in dark. The calli shown are already transferred to REGEN M; WOC = 4. D: Plantlets with developing shoot system, induced by REGEN M cultivation, transferred to sterile Erlenmayer flask containing SMC REG; WOC = 6. E: Fully-developed plantlet with newly-induced root system, prior to transfer to soil; WOC = 10. F: Young maize plantlet after 8 weeks of cultivation in soil. Scale = 25 mm, except F, where scale = 100 mm.

4.2 Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated calli transformation

4.2.1 Strain effect on transient transformation assay

3 *A. tumefaciens* strains, AGL-1, LBA 4404 and EHA 105 were used for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation with *pCAMV35S::GUSA:tNOS* on pCAMBIA 1303 (KAN^R bacteria, HYG^R plants). A total number of 20 calli, each dissected into pieces 3 mm in diameter, were used for the assay of the strain performance on the efficiency of transformation. No enzymatic treatment was used prior to infection. Transient GUS assay was carried out for each strain 5 days after the infection and subsequent co-cultivation on Co-cultivation media. Even though no specific transformation frequency was measured, no histochemical signal was observed on explants transformed by *Agrobacterium* strains LBA 4404 and EHA 105. GUS reporter system expression was considerably high in the explants transformed by Agrobacterium strains LBA 4404 and EHA 105. GUS reporter validated by performing the same transformed cells. The strain effect was further validated by performing the same transformation protocol on *Arabidopsis thaliana* leaves and friable *Nicotiana tabacum* calli, with the same outcome.

Even though LBA 4404 and EHA 105 strains are one of the major *Agrobacterium* strains used in maize transformation protocols, which report TE of up to 95% (Zhao *et al.*, 2001; Ishida *et al.*, 2007; Zhi *et al.*, 2015; Du *et al.*, 2019), there has not yet been a significant number of studies focused on the transformation of MEs. In the sole study in which B73 was also transformed (IEs), 0% transformation frequency was similarly described (Frame *et al.*, 2006).

When applying the infection media containing AGL-1, a significant increase in transformation frequency was likewise described in a comparative study on different *Agrobacterium* strains effect on TE (Cho *et al.*, 2014). In another article published in 2014, 90% TE (AGL-1) was reported, with LBA 4404 transforming only approximately 11% of the MSCs. Several parameters' effects on maize TE, also assessed in the study, were described, most notably explant age, media composition and *Agrobacterium* strain. It was proposed, that strains like AGL-1 (nopaline strains) might be better options when transforming apical meristem-derived explants, in comparison to octopine strains (like LBA 4404) (Cao *et al.*, 2014). Therefore, AGL-1 could be a prime *Agrobacterium*

strain-of-choice in SMC transformation studies. Notwithstanding, EHA 105 is also a nopaline strain and no transformants were generated by it in this thesis' experiment. Thus, the vulnerability of the explant to transformation efforts is indeed dependent on the combination of factors like explant genotype, growth media composition and explant origin, not only *Agrobacterium* strain used (Yadava *et al.*, 2017).

4.2.2 Transient transformation efficiency assay

In further transformation protocols, only *A. tumefaciens* strain AGL-1 was used. The lytic enzyme pretreatment protocol was based on (Du *et al.*, 2019). A total amount of 48 calli were used for the transformation protocol, which were sliced into 210 pieces of \sim 3 mm diameter. Enzymatic pretreatment effect on the transient TE was assayed, with 106 calli slices being treated with pectinase-cellulase cocktail for 9 min prior to the *Agrobacterium* infection; this step was omitted for the rest 104 pieces. Each group was divided into 4 Petri dishes of around 25 pieces per setting, to represent the respective repeats (Table 1). For the control group, the additional lysis step was exchanged for basal Infection media incubation. GUS histochemical assay was used to assess transient TE.

Unlike the original work, no significant change in transformation frequency was recorded after digesting the explants. However, in the article, different maize cultivar (Hi-II) was used, with IEs as the starting material (Du *et al.*, 2019). They also noted, that prolonged enzymatic lysis (over 9 min) had a negative effect on TE. Furthermore, pretreating the calli with unamended infection media for the same period, resulted in lowered TE. Therefore it can be presumed that the positive effects of cellulase/pectinase treatment on B73 calli were negated by the negative effects of additional transformation protocol step, effectively canceling out each other.

	+ ET		- ET	
Repeat	# of infected calli slices	# of GUS expressing calli slices	# of infected calli slices	# of GUS expressing calli slices
1	31	25	34	30
2	18	14	22	18
3	25	18	21	18
4	32	28	27	23
Transient transform	mation efficiency	$79.5\pm5.6\%$		$85.2\pm2.3\%$

Table 1: Enzymatic pretreatment effect on the transient *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation efficiency of sliced maize calli. Transient transformation efficiency calculated as mean frequency \pm SD.

Afterwards, the transient transformation experiment was performed with the exclusion of enzymatic pretreatment step, as it did not provide an increase in TE in the first transient TE assay. 90 calli, sliced into 198 pieces were transformed using *A. tumefaciens* strain AGL-1 and after 5 days of co-cultivation, GUS expression assay was carried out to determine transient transformation frequency (Figure 5). For the control group, the infection step (30 min incubation with *A. tumefaciens* in the desiccator) was exchanged for 30 min incubation in the basal Infection media, also in the desiccator. A total number of 3 Petri dishes (alongside 2 control groups) were assayed as the respective repeats (Table 2).

Compared to the original thesis (Martínez Nicolás, 2008), on which the transformation protocol in this work was based, it was managed to increase the TE approximately tenfold. An alternative hypervirulent strain (AGL-1) was used in comparison to EHA 101. Furthermore, the OD₆₀₀ for AGL-1 was set to reach 1.2 prior to liquid YEB media incubation, and 0.8 for Infection media resuspension step (as compared to 1.0 and 0.6, respectively). These differences, along with the increased co-cultivation time, might be responsible for the higher number of transformation events in the sliced calli. On the other hand, it was observed that AGL-1 needed more time to grow colonies on solid YEB media, with distinct colony formation developing as late as 36 h after Petri dish inoculation. This could result in unplanned delay of transformation protocols, which usually require *Agrobacterium* colony to establish in 24 h time.



Figure 5: Transient GUS expression in sliced SMCs after 5 days co-cultivation with *Agrobacterium*. A. Control. B. Repeat group #1. C. Repeat group #2. D. Repeat group #3. Scale = 10 mm.

	Transiently transformed calli slices		Control	
Repeat	# of infected calli slices	# of GUS expressing calli slices	# of infected calli slices	# of GUS expressing calli slices
1	30	25	25	0
2	42	34	35	0
3	66	50	-	-
Transient transform	mation efficiency	$80.0\pm3.2\%$		$0\pm0\%$

Table 2: Transient *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation efficiency of sliced maize calli. Transient transformation efficiency calculated as mean frequency \pm SD.

4.2.3 Stable transformation efficiency assay

90 calli were sliced into 224 pieces and subsequently infected with *A. tumefaciens* for 30 min. The explants were co-cultivated on Co-cultivation media for 5 days and transferred to Resting media afterwards, to eliminate *Agrobacterium*. After 7 days on the Resting media, the slices were incubated in GUS staining solution and after 48 h, GUS expression assay was performed (Figure 6, Table 3).

GUS expression analysis was used as the means to analyze stable transformation efficiency, as it was not managed to recover any plants from regeneration experiment (see below). The assay was performed 7 days after co-cultivation, with the assumption that most non-integrated T-DNA molecules are degraded or attenuated by that time (Bartlett *et al.*, 2014; Philips *et al.*, 2019).

	Stably transformed calli slices		Control	
Repeat	# of infected calli slices	# of GUS expressing calli slices	# of infected calli slices	# of GUS expressing calli slices
1	47	24	49	0
2	54	33	23	0
3	51	28	-	-
Stable transformat	ion efficiency	$55.7\pm4.1\%$		$0\pm0\%$

Table 3: Stable *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation efficiency of sliced maize calli. Stable transformation efficiency calculated as mean frequency \pm SD.



Figure 6: Stable GUS expression in sliced SMCs after 5 days co-cultivation with *Agrobacterium* and 7 days on Resting media afterwards. A. Control. B. Repeat group #1. C. Repeat group #2. D. Repeat group #3. Scale = 10 mm.

4.2.4 Transformed callus slice regeneration

A total number of 30 calli slices, transformed by *A. tumefaciens* strain AGL-1, were used for regeneration of mature plantlets. After 7 days of cultivation on Resting media, approximately 40% of slices failed to respond to the growth media and died. The rest of the calli slices were subcultured on REGEN M to try to induce new shoots growth, however no visible shoots were established even after three weeks. Ultimately, the calli slices were subcultured on CPM Dark in order to promote tissue dedifferentiation into a

callus. The calli slices' color turned from yellowish white to dark green, which was maintained for two more subcultivation repeats (a total of 10 weeks since the transfer from the Co-cultivation media), however the calli did not manage to develop and all of the explants died as well.

No stable transformant regeneration was similarly described in (Martínez Nicolás, 2008), on which the regeneration protocol was based. Utilizing calli induction media developed by (Pathi *et al.*, 2013) resulted in no difference in the regeneration. Even though no plant was successfully recovered, approximately half of the cultivated sliced calli survived the subcultivation to REGEN M. The ability to regenerate the transformed SMCs should therefore be determined by the explants' proliferative capacity post transformation, rather than ineffective regeneration media used. However, the explants still lacked sufficient phytochemical cues from the media to redirect cell fate and induce caulogenesis. Further modifications and refinement of the media formulation are henceforth needed for the protocol improvement and eventual fertile regenerant production. Alternatively, there were few studies which managed a successful regeneration of transformants (Ishida *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2007; Vega *et al.*, 2008), however the starting explants were typically IEs of various lines, different from B73 MEs used in this thesis and (Martínez Nicolás, 2008).

5 CONCLUSION

The main focus of this bachelor thesis was the regeneration and transformation of maize as an archetypal monocotyledonous plant and model organism. Due to its irreplaceable position in contemporary maize research, B73 inbred cultivar was used as the sole studied line in this work. The utilization of this line was further cemented by the fact, that no efficient protocol combining regeneration and *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation, utilizing mature B73 maize seeds, has ever been published. Therefore, it was sought to establish a working system on this line as well.

Two different regeneration protocols were carried out and subsequently compared. Regeneration rate of 0.9 and 5.9% was reached, respectively. Either of the approaches used did not provide a significant improvement in the outcome, with lower efficiency as compared to the original studies. The regeneration of mature seeds-derived B73 explants therefore still remains elusive. Experiments focused on transforming calli explants, utilized different *Agrobacterium* strains and pretreatment options. Transformation of explants was demonstrated only with strain AGL-1, with transient TE reaching 80% and stable TE reaching 55.7%. Experimenting with enzymatic lysis prior to inoculation did not yield compelling results, on the contrary, the TE was recorded lower than compared to the control. The attempted regeneration of transformed explants was not successful.

Nevertheless, even if it was not managed to establish an efficient B73 mature seed regeneration and transformation protocol, the TEs achieved in this thesis were significant. Unlike that, the regeneration efficiency of mature seed-based protocols is generally low, which makes it the limiting factor of such protocols. Therefore, it is crucial to develop techniques enabling quick and efficient *in vitro* regeneration of mature seed-derived explants, providing a simple and economical way of generating transgenic maize plants for both research and commercial application.

6 BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abdel-Rahman, M.M., Widholm, J.M. (2010): Maize tissue culture plant regeneration ability can be improved by polyethylene glycol treatment. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant* 46, 509–515. doi: 10.1007/s11627-010-9297-4.
- Abebe, D.Z., Teffera, W., Machuka, J.S. (2008): Regeneration of tropical maize lines (*Zea mays* 1.) from mature zygotic embryo through callus initiation. *African Journal of Biotechnology* 7, 2181–2186.
- Abel, C.A., Pollak, L.M., Salhuana, W., Widrlechner, M.P., Wilson, R.L. (2001): Registration of GEMS-0001 Maize Germplasm Resistant to Leaf Blade, Leaf Sheath, and Collar Feeding by European Corn Borer. *Crop Science* 41, 1651–1652. doi: 10.2135/cropsci2001.4151651x.
- Ahmadabadi, M., Ruf, S., Bock, R. (2007): A leaf-based regeneration and transformation system for maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Transgenic Research* 16, 437–448. doi: 10.1007/s11248-006-9046y.
- Ahsan, M., Mehdi, S.S., Khaliq, I. (2000): Tissue Culture and Breeding of Maize (*Zea mays* L.)
 "A Review." *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences* 3, 1985–1988. doi: 10.3923/pjbs.2000.1985.1988.
- Allan, P. (1981): Plant Propagation Through Tissue Culture. South African Avocado Growers' Association Yearbook 4, 1–10.
- Almeida, A.M., Villalobos, E., Araújo, S.S., Cardoso, L.A., Santos, D.M., Santos, M.A., Fevereiro, P.S., Torné, J.M. (2007): Electroporation of maize embryogenic calli with the trehalose-6-phosphate synthase gene from *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 29, 273–281. doi: 10.1007/s11738-007-0034-5.
- Altpeter, F., Springer, N.M., Bartley, L.E., Blechl, A., Brutnell, T.P., Citovsky, V., Conrad, L., Gelvin, S.B., Jackson, D., Kausch, A.P., Lemaux, P.G., Medford, J.I., Orozo-Cardenas, M., Tricoli, D., VanEck, J., Voytas, D.F., Walbot, V., Wang, K., Zhang, Z.J., Stewart, C.N. (2016): Advancing Crop Transformation in the Era of Genome Editing. *The Plant Cell* 28, 1510–1520. doi: 10.1105/tpc.16.00196.
- An, G. (1985): High Efficiency Transformation of Cultured Tobacco Cells. *Plant Physiology* 79, 568–570. doi: 10.1104/pp.79.2.568.
- Anand, A., Bass, S.H., Wu, E., Wang, N., McBride, K.E., Annaluru, N., Miller, M., Hua, M., Jones, T.J. (2018): An improved ternary vector system for *Agrobacterium*-mediated rapid maize transformation. *Plant Molecular Biology* **97**, 187–200. doi: 10.1007/s11103-018-0732-y.
- Anand, A., Jones, T.J. (2018): Advancing Agrobacterium-Based Crop Transformation and Genome Modification Technology for Agricultural Biotechnology. In: Agrobacterium Biology. (Gelvin, S.B., ed.), Springer International Publishing, Cham, 489–507. doi: 10.1007/82_2018_97.
- Balat, M., Balat, H. (2009): Recent trends in global production and utilization of bio-ethanol fuel. *Applied Energy* 86, 2273–2282. doi: 10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.03.015.
- Bartlett, J., Smedley, M., Harwood, W. (2014): Analysis of T-DNA/Host-Plant DNA Junction Sequences in Single-Copy Transgenic Barley Lines. *Biology* 3, 39–55. doi: 10.3390/biology3010039.
- Barton, K.A., Binns, A.N., Matzke, A.J.M., Chilton, M.-D. (1983): Regeneration of intact tobbaco plants containing full length copies of genetically engineered T-DNA and transmission of T-DNA to R1 progeny. *Cell* 32, 1033–1043.
- Bates, G.W. (1992): Electrofusion of Plant Protoplasts and the Production of Somatic Hybrids.
 In: *Guide to Electroporation and Electrofusion*. (Chang, D.C., Chassy, B.M., Saunders, J.A. & Sowers, A.E., eds.), Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 249–264. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-091727-6.50019-8.

Bennetzen, J.L., Hake, S. (eds) (2009): Handbook of maize: genetics and genomics. Springer, New York, NY, 798 pp.

- Bevan, M.W., Chilton, M. (1982): T-DNA of the *Agrobacterium* TI and RI Plasmids. *Annual Review of Genetics* 16, 357–384. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ge.16.120182.002041.
- Bhatia, S., Bera, T. (2015): Chapter 6 Somatic Embryogenesis and Organogenesis. In: Modern Applications of Plant Biotechnology in Pharmaceutical Sciences. (Bhatia, S., ed.), Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 209–230. doi: 10.1016/C2014-0-02123-5.
- Bhattacharya, A., Sood, P., Citovsky, V. (2010): The roles of plant phenolics in defence and communication during *Agrobacterium* and Rhizobium infection: Phenolics in *Agrobacterium* and Rhizobium infection. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **11**, 705–179. doi: 10.1111/j.1364-3703.2010.00625.x.
- Bio-Rad (2019a): Biolistic Delivery Systems. Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, 8 pp.
- Bio-Rad (2019b): Gene Transfer: Biolistics Biolistic PDS-1000/He System. Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, 2 pp.
- Bohorova, N., Zhang, W., Julstrum, P., McLean, S., Luna, B., Brito, R.M., Diaz, L., Ramos, M.E., Estanol, P., Pacheco, M., Salgado, M., Hoisington, D. (1999): Production of transgenic tropical maize with cryIAb and cryIAc genes via microprojectile bombardment of immature embryos. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **99**, 437–444. doi: 10.1007/s001220051255.
- Bouchabké-Coussa, O., Obellianne, M., Linderme, D., Montes, E., Maia-Grondard, A., Vilaine, F., Pannetier, C. (2013): *Wuschel* overexpression promotes somatic embryogenesis and induces organogenesis in cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) tissues cultured in vitro. *Plant Cell Reports* 32, 675–686. doi: 10.1007/s00299-013-1402-9.
- Bourras, S., Rouxel, T., Meyer, M. (2015): Agrobacterium tumefaciens Gene Transfer: How a Plant Pathogen Hacks the Nuclei of Plant and Nonplant Organisms. Phytopathology 105, 1288–1301. doi: 10.1094/PHYTO-12-14-0380-RVW.
- Boutilier, K., Offringa, R., Sharma, V.K., Kieft, H., Ouellet, T., Zhang, L., Hattori, J., Liu, C.-M., van Lammeren, A.A.M., Miki, B.L.A., Custers, J.B.M., van Lookeren Campagne, M.M. (2002): Ectopic Expression of *BABY BOOM* Triggers a Conversion from Vegetative to Embryonic Growth. *The Plant Cell* 14, 1737–1749. doi: 10.1105/tpc.001941.
- Brettschneider, R., Becker, D., Lörz, H. (1997): Efficient transformation of scutellar tissue of immature maize embryos: *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 94, 737–748. doi: 10.1007/s001220050473.
- Bulant, C., Gallais, A. (1998): Xenia Effects in Maize with Normal Endosperm: I. Importance and Stability. Crop Science 38, 1517–1525. doi: 10.2135/cropsci1998.0011183X003800060019x.
- Cao, J., Wang, Y.C., Klein, T.M., Wu, R. (1990): Transformation of rice and maize using the biolistic process. UCLA Symposia on Molecular and Cellular Biology 129, 21–33.
- Cao, S., Masilamany, P., Li, W., Pauls, K.P. (2014): Agrobacterium tumefaciens -mediated transformation of corn (Zea mays L.) multiple shoots. Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment 28, 208–216. doi: 10.1080/13102818.2014.907654.
- Cassidy, E.S., West, P.C., Gerber, J.S., Foley, J.A. (2013): Redefining agricultural yields: from tonnes to people nourished per hectare. *Environmental Research Letters* 8, 034015. doi: 10.1088/1748-9326/8/3/034015.
- Castellano-Hernández, O., Rodriguez-Sahagun, A., Avecedo-Hernández, G., Herrera-Estrella, L. (2011): Genetic Transformation of Forest Trees. In: *Genetic Transformation*. (Alvarez, M., ed.), InTech, 192–214. doi: 10.5772/24354.
- Chieng, L.M.N., Chen, T.Y., Sim, S.L., Goh, D.K.S. (2014): Induction of Organogenesis and Somatic Embryogenesis of Gonystylus bancanus (Miq.) Kurz (Ramin) In Sarawak. 1st ed. Sarawak Forestry Corporation, Kuching, Sarawak, Malysia, 28 pp.
- Chilton, M.-D., Drummond, M.H., Merlo, D.J., Sciaky, D., Montoya, A.L., Gordon, M.P., Nester, E.W. (1977): Stable incorporation of plasmid DNA into higher plant cells: the

molecular basis of crown gall tumorigenesis. Cell 11, 263-271. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(77)90043-5.

- Cho, M.-J., Wu, E., Kwan, J., Yu, M., Banh, J., Linn, W., Anand, A., Li, Z., TeRonde, S., Register, J.C., Jones, T.J., Zhao, Z.-Y. (2014): Agrobacterium-mediated high-frequency transformation of an elite commercial maize (Zea mays L.) inbred line. Plant Cell Reports 33, 1767–1777. doi: 10.1007/s00299-014-1656-x.
- Chu, C.-C., Wang, C.-C., Sun, C.-S., Hsu, C., Yin, K.-C., Chu, C.-Y., Bi, F.-Y. (1974): Establishment of an efficient medium for anther culture of rice through comparative experiments on the nitrogen sources. *Scientia Sinica* **18**, 659–668.
- Coe, E.H., Sarkar, K.R. (1966): Preparation of Nucleic Acids and a Genetic Transformation Attempt in Maize ¹. Crop Science **6**, 432–435. doi: 10.2135/cropsci1966.0011183X000600050012x.
- Condic, M.L. (2014): Totipotency: What It Is and What It Is Not. *Stem Cells and Development* 23, 796–812. doi: 10.1089/scd.2013.0364.
- Delporte, F., Pretova, A., du Jardin, P., Watillon, B. (2014): Morpho-histology and genotype dependence of in vitro morphogenesis in mature embryo cultures of wheat. *Protoplasma* 251, 1455–1470. doi: 10.1007/s00709-014-0647-7.
- Derkach, K.V., Abraimova, O.E., Satarova, T.M. (2017): Morphogenesis in vitro in maize inbred lines from the Lancaster heterotic group. *Cytology and Genetics* 51, 48–53. doi: 10.3103/S0095452717010030.
- D'Halluin, K., Bonne, E., Bossut, M., Beuckeleer, M.D., Leemans, J. (1992): Transgenic Maize Plants by Tissue Electroporation. *The Plant Cell* **4**, 1495–1505.
- Didoné, D.A., Silva, M.R. de, Ceccon, C.C., Teixeira, T., Suzin, M., Grando, M.F. (2018): Increased transient genetic transformation *in immature* embryos of Brazilian BR 451 maize co-cultivated with <i>Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Acta Scientiarum. Agronomy 40, 36475. doi: 10.4025/actasciagron.v40i1.36475.
- Doebley, J.F., Gaut, B.S., Smith, B.D. (2006): The Molecular Genetics of Crop Domestication. *Cell* **127**, 1309–1321. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.12.006.
- Du, D., Geng, C., Zhang, X., Zhang, Z., Zheng, Y., Zhang, F., Lin, Y., Qiu, F. (2014): Transgenic maize lines expressing a cry1C* gene are resistant to insect pests. *Plant Molecular Biology Reporter* 32, 549–557. doi: 10.1007/s11105-013-0663-3.
- Du, D., Jin, R., Guo, J., Zhang, F. (2019): Infection of Embryonic Callus with Agrobacterium Enables High-Speed Transformation of Maize. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 20, 279. doi: 10.3390/ijms20020279.
- Ebinuma, H., Sugita, K., Matsunaga, E., Yamakado, M., Komamine, A. (1997): Principle of MAT Vector System. *Plant Biotechnology* 14, 133–139. doi: 10.5511/plantbiotechnology.14.133.
- Efferth, T. (2019): Biotechnology Applications of Plant Callus Cultures. *Engineering* 5, 50–59. doi: 10.1016/j.eng.2018.11.006.
- Elhiti, M., Stasolla, C. (2011): The Use of Zygotic Embryos as Explants for In Vitro Propagation: An Overview. In: *Plant Embryo Culture*. (Thorpe, T.A. & Yeung, E.C., eds.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 229–255. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61737-988-8_17.
- El-Itriby, H.A., Assem, S.K., Hussein, E.H.A., Abdel-Calil, F.M., Madkour, M.A. (2003): Regeneration and transformation of Egyptian maize inbred lines via immature embryo culture and a biolistic particle delivery system. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology -Plant* 39, 524–531. doi: 10.1079/IVP2003439.
- Engström, P., Zambryski, P., Van Montagu, M., Stachel, S. (1987): Characterization of Agrobacterium tumefaciens virulence proteins induced by the plant factor acetosyringone. Journal of Molecular Biology 197, 635–645. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(87)90470-0.
- Escudero, J., Gunther, N., Schlappi, M., Hohn, B. (1996): T-DNA transfer in meristematic cells of maize provided with intracellular *Agrobacterium*. *The Plant Journal* **10**, 355–360.

- FAO (2018): *World food and agriculture: statistical pocketbook 2018.* Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy, 254 pp.
- Fraley, R.T., Rogers, S.G., Horsch, R.B., Sanders, P.R., Flick, J.S., Adams, S.P., Bittner, M.L., Brand, L.A., Fink, C.L., Fry, J.S., Galluppi, G.R., Goldberg, S.B., Hoffmann, N.L., Woo, S.C. (1983): Expression of bacterial genes in plant cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 80, 4803–4807. doi: 10.1073/pnas.80.15.4803.
- Frame, B., Main, M., Schick, R., Wang, K. (2011): Genetic Transformation Using Maize Immature Zygotic Embryos. In: *Plant Embryo Culture: Methods and Protocols, Methods in Molecular Biology*. (Thorpe, T.A. & Yeung, E.C., eds.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 327– 341. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61737-988-8 22.
- Frame, B.R., McMurray, J.M., Fonger, T.M., Main, M.L., Taylor, K.W., Torney, F.J., Paz, M.M., Wang, K. (2006): Improved Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of three maize inbred lines using MS salts. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 1024–1034. doi: 10.1007/s00299-006-0145-2.
- Frame, B.R., Shou, H., Chikwamba, R.K., Zhang, Z., Xiang, C., Fonger, T.M., Pegg, S.E.K., Li, B., Nettleton, D.S., Pei, D., Wang, K. (2002): *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* -Mediated Transformation of Maize Embryos Using a Standard Binary Vector System. *Plant Physiology* 129, 13–22. doi: 10.1104/pp.000653.
- Frame, B.R., Zhang, H., Cocciolone, S.M., Sidorenko, L.V., Dietrich, C.R., Pegg, S.E., Zhen, S., Schnable, P.S., Wang, K. (2000): Production of transgenic maize from bombarded type II callus: Effect of gold particle size and callus morphology on transformation efficiency. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant* **36**, 21–29. doi: 10.1007/s11627-000-0007-5.
- Frandsen, R.J.N. (2011): A guide to binary vectors and strategies for targeted genome modification in fungi using Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation. Journal of Microbiological Methods 87, 247–262. doi: 10.1016/j.mimet.2011.09.004.
- Fromm, M.E., Morrish, F., Armstrong, C., Williams, R., Thomas, J., Klein, T.M. (1990): Inheritance and Expression of Chimeric Genes in the Progeny of Transgenic Maize Plants. *Nature Biotechnology* 8, 833–839. doi: 10.1038/nbt0990-833.
- Fromm, M.E., Taylor, L.P., Walbot, V. (1986): Stable transformation of maize after gene transfer by electroporation. *Nature* **319**, 791–793. doi: 10.1038/319791a0.
- Galinat, W.C. (1971): The Origin of Maize. Annual Review of Genetics 5, 447–448.
- Garrocho-Villegas, V., de Jesús-Olivera, M.T., Quintanar, E.S. (2012): Maize Somatic Embryogenesis: Recent Features to Improve Plant Regeneration. In: *Plant Cell Culture Protocols*. (Loyola-Vargas, V.M. & Ochoa-Alejo, N., eds.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 173– 182. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-818-4 14.
- Gelvin, S.B. (2003): Agrobacterium-Mediated Plant Transformation: the Biology behind the "Gene-Jockeying" Tool. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 67, 16–37. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.67.1.16-37.2003.
- Golovkin, M.V., Abrahám, M., Mórocz, S., Bottka, S., Fehér, A., Dudits, D. (1993): Production of transgenic maize plants by direct DNA uptake into embryogenic protoplasts. *Plant Science* 90, 41–52. doi: 10.1016/0168-9452(93)90154-R.
- González, G.A., Pacheco, M.G., Oneto, C.D., Etchart, V.J., Kandus, M.V., Salerno, J.C., Eyherabide, G., Presello, D., Lewi, D.M. (2012): Somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration capacity in Argentinean maize (*Zea mays* L.) inbred lines. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology* 15, 1–15. doi: 10.2225/vol15-issue1-fulltext-7.
- Gordon, J.E., Christie, P.J. (2014): The Agrobacterium Ti Plasmids. Microbiology Spectrum 2, 1–29. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.PLAS-0010-2013.
- Gordon-Kamm, W.J., Spencer, T.M., Mangano, M.L., Adams, T.R., Daines, R., Start, W.G., O'Brien, J.V., Chambers, S.A., Adams, W.R., Willetts, N.G., Mackey, C.J., Krueger, R.W., Kausch, A.P., Lemaux, P.G. (1990): Transformation of Maize Cells and Regeneration of Fertile Transgenic Plants. *The Plant Cell* 2, 603–618.

- Gould, J., Devey, M., Hasegawa, O., Ulian, E.C., Peterson, G., Smith, R.H. (1991): Transformation of *Zea mays* L. Using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* and the Shoot Apex. *Plant Physiology* 95, 426–434. doi: 10.1104/pp.95.2.426.
- Green, C.E., Phillips, R.L. (1975): Plant Regeneration from Tissue Cultures of Maize. *Crop Science* **15**, 417–421. doi: 10.2135/cropsci1975.0011183X001500030040x.
- Griffith, F. (1928): The significance of Pneumococcal types. Journal of Hygiene 27, 113–159.
- Guruprasad, M., Sridevi, V., Vijayakumar, G., Kumar, M.S. (2016): Plant regeneration through callus initiation from mature and immature embryos of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Indian Journal Of Agricultural Research* **50**, 135–138. doi: 10.18805/ijare.v0iOF.8435.
- Hake, S., Ross-Ibarra, J. (2015): Genetic, evolutionary and plant breeding insights from the domestication of maize. *eLife* **4**, e05861. doi: 10.7554/eLife.05861.
- Herrera-Estrella, L., Depicker, A., Van Montagu, M., Schell, J. (1983): Expression of chimaeric genes transferred into plant cells using a Ti-plasmid-derived vector. *Nature* **303**, 209–213. doi: 10.1038/303209a0.
- Hiei, Y., Ishida, Y., Komari, T. (2014): Progress of cereal transformation technology mediated by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Frontiers in Plant Science 5, 1–11. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2014.00628.
- Hill, M., Launis, K., Bowman, C., McPherson, K., Dawson, J., Watkins, J., Koziel, M., Wright, M.S. (1995): Biolistic introduction of a synthetic Bt gene into elite maize. *Euphytica* 85, 119–123.
- Hoekema, A., Hirsch, P.R., Hooykaas, P.J.J., Schilperoort, R.A. (1983): A binary plant vector strategy based on separation of vir- and T-region of the *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* Tiplasmid. *Nature* **303**, 179–180. doi: 10.1038/303179a0.
- Hussain, A., Ahmed, I., Nazir, H., Ullah, I. (2012): Plant Tissue Culture: Current Status and Opportunities. In: *Recent Advances in Plant in vitro Culture*. (Leva, A., ed.), InTech, London, UK, 1–29. doi: 10.5772/50568.
- Ikeuchi, M., Sugimoto, K., Iwase, A. (2013): Plant Callus: Mechanisms of Induction and Repression. *The Plant Cell* 25, 3159–3173. doi: 10.1105/tpc.113.116053.
- Imbrie-Milligan, C.W., Hodges, T.K. (1986): Microcallus formation from maize protoplasts prepared from embryogenic callus. *Planta* **168**, 395–401. doi: 10.1007/BF00392367.
- ISAAA (2016): Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops: 2016. ISAAA, Ithaca, NY, 135 pp.
- ISAAA (2020): List of Maize GM Events ISAAA Page. *ISAAA home page*. Retrieved February 22, 2020, from https://www.isaaa.org/gmapprovaldatabase/crop/default.asp?CropID=6.
- Ishida, Y., Hiei, Y., Komari, T. (2007): *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of maize. *Nature Protocols* **2**, 1614–1621. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.241.
- Ishida, Y., Saito, H., Ohta, S., Hiei, Y., Komari, T., Kumashiro, T. (1996): High efficiency transformation of maize (*Zea mays L.*) mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *Nature Biotechnology* 14, 745–750. doi: 10.1038/nbt0696-745.
- James, C. (2015): Global status of commercialized biotech/GM crops: 2015 ISAAA brief No. 51. ISAAA, Ithaca, NY, 283 pp.
- Jardinaud, M.F., Souvr, A., Alibert, G., Beckert, M. (1995): uidA Gene transfer and expression in maize microspores using the biolistic method. *Protoplasma* 187, 138–143.
- Jha, P., Kumar, V. (2018): *BABY BOOM (BBM)*: a candidate transcription factor gene in plant biotechnology. *Biotechnology Letters* **40**, 1467–1475. doi: 10.1007/s10529-018-2613-5.
- Ji, Q., Xu, X., Wang, K. (2013): Genetic transformation of major cereal crops. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 57, 495–508. doi: 10.1387/ijdb.130244kw.
- Jones, M.G.K., Fish, N., Lindsey, K. (1988): Plant tissue culture. In: *New Nucleic Acid Techniques*. 1st ed. (Walker, J.M., ed.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 499–517.
- Kausch, A.P., Adams, T.R., Mangano, M., Zachwieja, S.J., Gordon-Kamm, W., Daines, R., Willetts, N.G., Chambers, S.A., Adams, W., Anderson, A., Williams, G., Haines, G. (1995):

Effects of microprojectile bombardment on embryogenic suspension cell cultures of maize (*Zea mays* L.) used for genetic transformation. *Planta* **196**, 501–509. doi: 10.1007/BF00203650.

- Kotchoni, S.O., Noumavo, P.A., Adjanohoun, A., Russo, D.P., Dell'Angelo, J., Gachomo, E.W., Baba-Moussa, L. (2012): A simple and efficient seed-based approach to induce callus production from B73 maize genotype. *American Journal of Molecular Biology* 02, 380–385. doi: 10.4236/ajmb.2012.24039.
- Koziel, M.G., Beland, G.L., Bowman, C., Carozzi, N.B., Crenshaw, R., Crossland, L., Dawson, J., Desai, N., Hill, M., Kadwell, S., Launis, K., Lewis, K., Maddox, D., McPherson, K., Meghji, M.R., Merlin, E., Rhodes, R., Warren, G.W., Wright, M., Evola, S.V. (1993): Field Performance of Elite Transgenic Maize Plants Expressing an Insecticidal Protein Derived from Bacillus thuringiensis. *Nature Biotechnology* **11**, 194–200. doi: 10.1038/nbt0293-194.
- Lacroix, B., Citovsky, V. (2013): The roles of bacterial and host plant factors in Agrobacteriummediated genetic transformation. *The International Journal of Developmental Biology* 57, 467–481. doi: 10.1387/ijdb.130199bl.
- Lattanzio, V., Lattanzio, V.M.T., Cardinali, A. (2006): Role of phenolics in the resistance mechanisms of plants against fungal pathogens and insects. In: *Phytochemistry: advances in research*. (Imperato, F., ed.), Research Signpost, Trivandrum, Kerala, India, 23–67.
- Laursen, C.M., Krzyzek, R.A., Flick, C.E., Anderson, P.C., Spencer, T.M. (1994): Production of fertile transgenic maize by electroporation of suspension culture cells. *Plant Molecular Biology* 24, 51–61. doi: 10.1007/BF00040573.
- Laux, T., Mayer, K.F.X., Berger, J., Jürgens, G. (1996): The WUSCHEL gene is required for shoot and floral meristem integrity in Arabidopsis. Development 122, 87–96.
- Lebrun, M., Sailland, A., Freyssinet, G. (1997): Mutated 5-enol pyyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase, gene coding for said protein and transformed plants containing said gene.
- Lee, H., Zhang, Z.J. (2014): Agrobacterium-Mediated Transformation of Maize (Zea mays) Immature Embryos. In: Cereal Genomics. (Henry, R.J. & Furtado, A., eds.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 273–280. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-715-0 22.
- Liu, S.-T., Perry, K.L., Schardl, C.L., Kado, C.I. (1982): Agrobacterium Ti plasmid indoleacetic acid gene is required for crown gall oncogenesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 79, 2812–2816. doi: 10.1073/pnas.79.9.2812.
- Lowe, K., La Rota, M., Hoerster, G., Hastings, C., Wang, N., Chamberlin, M., Wu, E., Jones, T., Gordon-Kamm, W. (2018): Rapid genotype "independent" Zea mays L. (maize) transformation via direct somatic embryogenesis. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant 54, 240–252. doi: 10.1007/s11627-018-9905-2.
- Lowe, K., Wu, E., Wang, N., Hoerster, G., Hastings, C., Cho, M.-J., Scelonge, C., Lenderts, B., Chamberlin, M., Cushatt, J., Wang, L., Ryan, L., Khan, T., Chow-Yiu, J., Hua, W., Yu, M., Banh, J., Bao, Z., Brink, K., Igo, E., Rudrappa, B., Shamseer, P., Bruce, W., Newman, L., Shen, B., Zheng, P., Bidney, D., Falco, C., Register, J., Zhao, Z.-Y., Xu, D., Jones, T., Gordon-Kamm, W. (2016): Morphogenic Regulators *Baby boom* and *Wuschel* Improve Monocot Transformation. *The Plant Cell* 28, 1998–2015. doi: 10.1105/tpc.16.00124.
- Mangelsdorf, P.C., Reeves, R.G. (1938): Origin of Maize. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences 24, 303–312.
- Martínez Nicolás, J.C. (2008): Establishment of transformation systems using mature seeds of maize inbred lines. Dissertation thesis, Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa. doi: 10.31274/rtd-180813-16055.
- Márton, L., Wullems, G.J., Molendijk, L., Schilperoort, R.A. (1979): In vitro transformation of cultured cells from Nicotiana tabacum by Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Nature 277, 129–131. doi: 10.1038/277129a0.
- Matsuoka, Y., Vigouroux, Y., Goodman, M.M., Sanchez G., J., Buckler, E., Doebley, J. (2002): A single domestication for maize shown by multilocus microsatellite genotyping.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences **99**, 6080–6084. doi: 10.1073/pnas.052125199.

- Mayer, K.F.X., Schoof, H., Haecker, A., Lenhard, M., Jürgens, G., Laux, T. (1998): Role of WUSCHEL in Regulating Stem Cell Fate in the Arabidopsis Shoot Meristem. Cell 95, 805– 815. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81703-1.
- Miller, C.O., Skoog, F., Von Saltza, M.H., Strong, F.M. (1955): Kinetin, a cell division factor from deoxyribonucleic acid. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* 77, 1392–1392. doi: 10.1021/ja01610a105.
- Mookkan, M., Nelson-Vasilchik, K., Hague, J., Zhang, Z.J., Kausch, A.P. (2017): Selectable marker independent transformation of recalcitrant maize inbred B73 and sorghum P898012 mediated by morphogenic regulators *BABY BOOM* and *WUSCHEL2*. *Plant Cell Reports* 36, 1477–1491. doi: 10.1007/s00299-017-2169-1.
- Motte, H., Vereecke, D., Geelen, D., Werbrouck, S. (2014): The molecular path to in vitro shoot regeneration. *Biotechnology Advances* 32, 107–121. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2013.12.002.
- Muoma, J., Muluvi, G., Machuka, J.S. (2008): In vitro regeneration by indirect organogenesis of selected Kenyan maize genotypes using shoot apices. *Biotechnology* 7, 732–738.
- Murashige, T., Skoog, F. (1962): A Revised Medium for Rapid Growth and Bio Agsays with Tohaoco Tissue Cultures. *Physiologia Plantarum* 15, 473–497.
- Murray, J.A.H., Jones, A., Godin, C., Traas, J. (2012): Systems Analysis of Shoot Apical Meristem Growth and Development: Integrating Hormonal and Mechanical Signaling. *The Plant Cell* 24, 3907–3919. doi: 10.1105/tpc.112.102194.
- Murry, L.E., Elliott, L.G., Capitant, S.A., West, J.A., Hanson, K.K., Scarafia, L., Johnston, S., DeLuca-Flaherty, C., Nichols, S., Cunanan, D., Dietrich, P.S., Mettler, I.J., Dewald, S., Warnick, D.A., Rhodes, C., Sinibaldi, R.M., Brunke, K.J. (1993): Transgenic Corn Plants Expressing MDMV Strain B Coat Protein are Resistant to Mixed Infections of Maize Dwarf Mosaic Virus and Maize Chlorotic Mottle Virus. *Nature Biotechnology* **11**, 1559–1564. doi: 10.1038/nbt1293-1559.
- Mushke, R., Yarra, R., Bulle, M. (2016): Efficient in vitro direct shoot organogenesis from seedling derived split node explants of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Journal of Genetic Engineering* and Biotechnology 14, 49–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jgeb.2016.03.001.
- Newhouse, K., Singh, B., Shaner, D., Stidham, M. (1991): Mutations in corn (*Zea mays L.*) conferring resistance to imidazolinone herbicides. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 83, 65–70. doi: 10.1007/BF00229227.
- O'Connor-Sánchez, A., Cabrera-Ponce, J., Valdez-Melara, M., Téllez-Rodríguez, P., Pons-Hernández, J., Herrera-Estrella, L. (2002): Transgenic maize plants of tropical and subtropical genotypes obtained from calluses containing organogenic and embryogenic-like structures derived from shoot tips. *Plant Cell Reports* **21**, 302–312. doi: 10.1007/s00299-002-0502-8.
- Oneto, C.D., González, G., Lewi, D. (2011): *Maize Biolistic Protocol*. Instituto Nacional de Tecnología Agropecuaria, Buenos Aires, Argentina, 66 pp.
- Parker, W.B., Marshall, L.C., Burton, J.D., Somers, D.A., Wyse, D.L., Gronwald, J.W., Gengenbach, B.G. (1990): Dominant mutations causing alterations in acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase confer tolerance to cyclohexanedione and aryloxyphenoxypropionate herbicides in maize. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 87, 7175–7179. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.18.7175.
- Passarinho, P., Ketelaar, T., Xing, M., van Arkel, J., Maliepaard, C., Hendriks, M.W., Joosen, R., Lammers, M., Herdies, L., den Boer, B., van der Geest, L., Boutilier, K. (2008): *BABY BOOM* target genes provide diverse entry points into cell proliferation and cell growth pathways. *Plant Molecular Biology* 68, 225–237. doi: 10.1007/s11103-008-9364-y.
- Pathi, K.M., Tula, S., Huda, K.Md.K., Srivastava, V.K., Tuteja, N. (2013): An efficient and rapid regeneration via multiple shoot induction from mature seed derived embryogenic and

organogenic callus of Indian maize (Zea mays L.). Plant Signaling & Behavior 8, e25891. doi: 10.4161/psb.25891.

- Pečinka, A., Rosa, M., Schikora, A., Berlinger, M., Hirt, H., Luschnig, C., Scheid, O.M. (2009): Transgenerational Stress Memory Is Not a General Response in *Arabidopsis*. *PLoS ONE* 4, e5202. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0005202.
- Pellegrino, E., Bedini, S., Nuti, M., Ercoli, L. (2018): Impact of genetically engineered maize on agronomic, environmental and toxicological traits: a meta-analysis of 21 years of field data. *Scientific Reports* 8, 3113. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-21284-2.
- Philips, J.G., Dudley, K.J., Waterhouse, P.M., Hellens, R.P. (2019): The Rapid Methylation of T-DNAs Upon Agrobacterium Inoculation in Plant Leaves. Frontiers in Plant Science 10, 312. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00312.
- Planckaert, F., Walbot, V. (1989): Transient gene expression after electroporation of protoplasts derived from embryogenic maize callus. *Plant Cell Reports* 8, 144–147. doi: 10.1007/BF00716827.
- Raja, N.I., Bano, A., Rashid, H., Chaudhry, Z., Ilyas, N. (2010): Improving Agrobacterium mediated transformation protocol for integration of XA21 gene in wheat (Triticum aestivum). Pakistan Journal of Botany 42, 3613–3631.
- Ranum, P., Peña-Rosas, J.P., Garcia-Casal, M.N. (2014): Global maize production, utilization, and consumption: Maize production, utilization, and consumption. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 1312, 105–112. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12396.
- Rasmussen, JeanetteL., Kikkert, JulieR., Roy, MihirK., Sanford, JohnC. (1994): Biolistic transformation of tobacco and maize suspension cells using bacterial cells as microprojectiles. *Plant Cell Reports* 13, 212–217. doi: 10.1007/BF00239895.
- Regier, D.A., Morris, R.O. (1982): Secretion of trans-zeatin by Agrobacterium tumefaciens: A function determined by the nopaline Ti plasmid. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 104, 1560–1566. doi: 10.1016/0006-291X(82)91429-2.
- Rhodes, C., Pierce, D., Mettler, I., Mascarenhas, D., Detmer, J. (1988): Genetically transformed maize plants from protoplasts. *Science* 240, 204–207. doi: 10.1126/science.2832947.
- Richael, C.M., Kalyaeva, M., Chretien, R.C., Yan, H., Adimulam, S., Stivison, A., Weeks, J.T., Rommens, C.M. (2008): Cytokinin vectors mediate marker-free and backbone-free plant transformation. *Transgenic Research* 17, 905–917. doi: 10.1007/s11248-008-9175-6.
- Ritchie, S.W., Lui, C.-N., Sellmer, J.C., Kononowicz, H., Hodges, T.K., Gelvin, S.B. (1993): Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated expression of gusA in maize tissues. Transgenic Research 2, 252–265. doi: 10.1007/BF01968838.
- Rivera, A.L., Gómez-Lim, M., Fernández, F., Loske, A.M. (2012): Physical methods for genetic plant transformation. *Physics of Life Reviews* 9, 308–345. doi: 10.1016/j.plrev.2012.06.002.
- Saad, A.I.M., Elshahed, A.M. (2012): Plant Tissue Culture Media. In: Recent Advances in Plant in vitro Culture. (Leva, A., ed.), InTech, London, UK, 29–40. doi: 10.5772/50569.
- Sablowski, R. (2007): Flowering and determinacy in Arabidopsis. Journal of Experimental Botany 58, 899–907. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erm002.
- Sairam, R.V., Parani, M., Franklin, G., Lifeng, Z., Smith, B., MacDougall, J., Wilber, C., Sheikhi, H., Kashikar, N., Meeker, K., Al-Abed, D., Berry, K., Vierling, R., Goldman, S.L. (2003): Shoot meristem: an ideal explant for *Zea mays* L. transformation. *Genome* 46, 323– 329.
- Salvo, S.A.G.D., Hirsch, C.N., Buell, C.R., Kaeppler, S.M., Kaeppler, H.F. (2014): Whole Transcriptome Profiling of Maize during Early Somatic Embryogenesis Reveals Altered Expression of Stress Factors and Embryogenesis-Related Genes. *PLoS ONE* 9, e111407. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0111407.
- Sánchez González, J. de J., Ruiz Corral, J.A., García, G.M., Ojeda, G.R., Larios, L.D. la C., Holland, J.B., Medrano, R.M., García Romero, G.E. (2018): Ecogeography of teosinte. *PLOS ONE* 13, e0192676. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192676.

- Sanford, J.C., Klein, T.M., Wolf, E.D., Allen, N. (1987): Delivery of substances into cells and tissues using a particle bombardment process. *Particulate Science and Technology* 5, 27–37. doi: 10.1080/02726358708904533.
- Schlappi, M., Hohn, B. (1992): Competence of immature maize embyos for Agrobacteriummediated gene transfer. *The Plant Cell* **4**, 7–16.
- Schnable, P.S., Ware, D., Fulton, R.S., Stein, J.C., Wei, F., Pasternak, S., Liang, C., Zhang, J., Fulton, L., Graves, T.A., Minx, P., Reily, A.D., Courtney, L., Kruchowski, S.S., Tomlinson, C., Strong, C., Delehaunty, K., Fronick, C., Courtney, B., Rock, S.M., Belter, E., Du, F., Kim, K., Abbott, R.M., Cotton, M., Levy, A., Marchetto, P., Ochoa, K., Jackson, S.M., Gillam, B., Chen, W., Yan, L., Higginbotham, J., Cardenas, M., Waligorski, J., Applebaum, E., Phelps, L., Falcone, J., Kanchi, K., Thane, T., Scimone, A., Thane, N., Henke, J., Wang, T., Ruppert, J., Shah, N., Rotter, K., Hodges, J., Ingenthron, E., Cordes, M., Kohlberg, S., Sgro, J., Delgado, B., Mead, K., Chinwalla, A., Leonard, S., Crouse, K., Collura, K., Kudrna, D., Currie, J., He, R., Angelova, A., Rajasekar, S., Mueller, T., Lomeli, R., Scara, G., Ko, A., Delaney, K., Wissotski, M., Lopez, G., Campos, D., Braidotti, M., Ashley, E., Golser, W., Kim, H., Lee, S., Lin, J., Dujmic, Z., Kim, W., Talag, J., Zuccolo, A., Fan, C., Sebastian, A., Kramer, M., Spiegel, L., Nascimento, L., Zutavern, T., Miller, B., Ambroise, C., Muller, S., Spooner, W., Narechania, A., Ren, L., Wei, S., Kumari, S., Faga, B., Levy, M.J., McMahan, L., Van Buren, P., Vaughn, M.W., Ying, K., Yeh, C.-T., Emrich, S.J., Jia, Y., Kalyanaraman, A., Hsia, A.-P., Barbazuk, W.B., Baucom, R.S., Brutnell, T.P., Carpita, N.C., Chaparro, C., Chia, J.-M., Deragon, J.-M., Estill, J.C., Fu, Y., Jeddeloh, J.A., Han, Y., Lee, H., Li, P., Lisch, D.R., Liu, S., Liu, Z., Nagel, D.H., McCann, M.C., SanMiguel, P., Myers, A.M., Nettleton, D., Nguyen, J., Penning, B.W., Ponnala, L., Schneider, K.L., Schwartz, D.C., Sharma, A., Soderlund, C., Springer, N.M., Sun, Q., Wang, H., Waterman, M., Westerman, R., Wolfgruber, T.K., Yang, L., Yu, Y., Zhang, L., Zhou, S., Zhu, Q., Bennetzen, J.L., Dawe, R.K., Jiang, J., Jiang, N., Presting, G.G., Wessler, S.R., Aluru, S., Martienssen, R.A., Clifton, S.W., McCombie, W.R., Wing, R.A., Wilson, R.K. (2009): The B73 Maize Genome: Complexity, Diversity, and Dynamics. Science 326, 1112-1115. doi: 10.1126/science.1178534.
- Scott, M.P., Pollak, L.M. (2005): Transgenic Maize. Starch Stärke 57, 187–195. doi: 10.1002/star.200400396.
- Shen, W.-H., Escudero, J., Schlappi, M., Ramos, C., Hohn, B., Koukolikova-Nikola, Z. (1993): T-DNA transfer to maize cells: Histochemical investigation of 18-glucuronidase activity in maize tissues. *Plant Biology* **90**, 1488–1492.
- Sidorov, V., Gilbertson, L., Addae, P., Duncan, D. (2006): Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of seedling-derived maize callus. *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 320–328. doi: 10.1007/s00299-005-0058-5.
- Singh, R.K., Prasad, M. (2016): Advances in Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated genetic transformation of graminaceous crops. Protoplasma 253, 691–707. doi: 10.1007/s00709-015-0905-3.
- Skoog, F., Tsui, C. (1948): Chemical Control of Growth and Bud Formation in Tobacco Stem Segments and Callus Cultured in Vitro. *American Journal of Botany* 35, 782–787.
- Somssich, M., Je, B.I., Simon, R., Jackson, D. (2016): CLAVATA-WUSCHEL signaling in the shoot meristem. Development 143, 3238–3248. doi: 10.1242/dev.133645.
- Songstad, D.D., Armstrong, C.L., Petersen, W.L., Hairston, B., Hinchee, M.A.W. (1996): Production of transgenic maize plants and progeny by bombardment of hi-II immature embryos. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant* **32**, 179–183. doi: 10.1007/BF02822763.
- Sood, P., Bhattacharya, A., Sood, A. (2011): Problems and possibilities of monocot transformation. *Biologia Plantarum* **55**, 1–15. doi: 10.1007/s10535-011-0001-2.

- Souza, R.A.V. de, Alves, M. de C., Carneiro, N.P., Barros, B. de A., Borém, A., Carneiro, A.A. (2017): Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of a tropical elite maize line. Crop Breeding and Applied Biotechnology 17, 133–140. doi: 10.1590/1984-70332017v17n2a20.
- Sticklen, M.B., Oraby, H.F. (2005): Shoot apical meristem: A sustainable explant for genetic transformation of cereal crops. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant* 41, 187– 200. doi: 10.1079/IVP2004616.
- Strable, J., Scanlon, M.J. (2009): Maize (*Zea mays*): A Model Organism for Basic and Applied Research in Plant Biology. *Cold Spring Harbor Protocols* 2009, 33–41. doi: 10.1101/pdb.emo132.
- Sugita, K., Kasahara, T., Matsunaga, E., Ebinuma, H. (2000): A transformation vector for the production of marker-free transgenic plants containing a single copy transgene at high frequency. *The Plant Journal* 22, 461–469. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.2000.00745.x.
- Sukhapinda, K., Kozuch, M.E., Rubin-Wilson, B., Ainley, W.M., Merlo, D.J. (1993): Transformation of maize (*Zea mays* L.) protoplasts and regeneration of haploid transgenic plants. *Plant Cell Reports* 13, 63–68. doi: 10.1007/BF00235291.
- Sultana, M., Gangopadhyay, G. (2018): Early expression of WUSCHEL is a marker for in vitro shoot morphogenesis in tobacco and Beta palonga. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* (PCTOC) 134, 277–288. doi: 10.1007/s11240-018-1421-x.
- Takacs, E.M., Li, J., Du, C., Ponnala, L., Janick-Buckner, D., Yu, J., Muehlbauer, G.J., Schnable, P.S., Timmermans, M.C.P., Sun, Q., Nettleton, D., Scanlon, M.J. (2012): Ontogeny of the Maize Shoot Apical Meristem. *The Plant Cell* 24, 3219–3234. doi: 10.1105/tpc.112.099614.
- Thorpe, T.A. (2007): History of plant tissue culture. *Molecular Biotechnology* **37**, 169–180. doi: 10.1007/s12033-007-0031-3.
- Torney, F., Trewyn, B.G., Lin, V.S.-Y., Wang, K. (2007): Mesoporous silica nanoparticles deliver DNA and chemicals into plants. *Nature Nanotechnology* 2, 295–300. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2007.108.
- Troyer, A.F. (1996): Breeding widely adapted, popular maize hybrids. *Euphytica* 92, 163–174.
- USDA (2019): U.S. use of field corn. United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C., USA, 1 pp.
- USDA (2020): *World Agricultural Production*. United States Department of Agriculture, Washington, D.C., USA, 34 pp.
- Vain, P., De Buyser, J., Bui Trang, V., Haicour, R., Henry, Y. (1995): Foreign gene delivery into monocotyledonous species. *Biotechnology Advances* 13, 653–671. doi: 10.1016/0734-9750(95)02009-8.
- Vega, J.M., Yu, W., Kennon, A.R., Chen, X., Zhang, Z.J. (2008): Improvement of Agrobacterium-mediated transformation in Hi-II maize (Zea mays) using standard binary vectors. Plant Cell Reports 27, 297–305. doi: 10.1007/s00299-007-0463-z.
- Wallace, J.G., Larsson, S.J., Buckler, E.S. (2014): Entering the second century of maize quantitative genetics. *Heredity* 112, 30–38. doi: 10.1038/hdy.2013.6.
- Walters, D.A., Vetsch, C.S., Potts, D.E., Lundquist, R.C. (1992): Transformation and inheritance of a hygromycin phosphotransferase gene in maize plants. *Plant Molecular Biology* 18, 189– 200. doi: 10.1007/BF00034948.
- Wang, A.S. (1987): Callus induction and plant regeneration from maize mature embryos. *Plant Cell Reports* 6, 360–362. doi: 10.1007/BF00269560.
- Wang, C., Burzio, L.A., Koch, M.S., Silvanovich, A., Bell, E. (2015): Purification, characterization and safety assessment of the introduced cold shock protein B in DroughtGardTM maize. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* **71**, 164–173. doi: 10.1016/ j.yrtph.2014.12.014.

- Wang, J., Sun, Y., Li, Y. (2007): Maize (Zea mays) genetic transformation by co-cultivating germinating seeds with Agrobacterium tumefaciens. Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry 46, 51. doi: 10.1042/BA20060065.
- Wang, K., Frame, B. (2009): Biolistic Gun-Mediated Maize Genetic Transformation. In: *Transgenic Maize*. (Scott, M.P., ed.), Humana Press, Totowa, NJ, 29–45. doi: 10.1007/978-1-59745-494-0 3.
- Wang, K., Frame, B., Ishida, Y., Komari, T. (2009): Maize Transformation. In: Handbook of Maize. (Bennetzen, J.L. & Hake, S., eds.), Springer New York, New York, NY, 609–639. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-77863-1 31.
- Wang, K., Frame, B., Marcell, L. (2003): Maize genetic transformation. In: *Plant genetic engineering: improvement of food crops*. (Singh, RP. & Jaiwal, PK., eds.), Sci-Tech, Houston, TX, 175–217.
- Wei, Z.-M., Huang, X.-Q. (2004): High-frequency plant regeneration through callus initiation from mature embryos of maize (*Zea mays L.*). *Plant Cell Reports* 22, 793–800. doi: 10.1007/ s00299-003-0748-9.
- Wellhausen, E.J., Roberts, L.M., Hernandez, E.X., Mangelsdorf, P.C. (1952): Races of Maize in Mexico: Their Origin, Characteristics and Distribution. The Bussey Institution of Harvard University, Media, Pennsylvania, 222 pp.
- Wright, M., Dawson, J., Dunder, E., Suttie, J., Reed, J., Kramer, C., Chang, Y., Novitzky, R., Wang, H., Artim-Moore, L. (2001): Efficient biolistic transformation of maize (*Zea mays L.*) and wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) using the phosphomannose isomerase gene, pmi, as the selectable marker. *Plant Cell Reports* 20, 429–436. doi: 10.1007/s002990100318.
- Xu, Z.-Q., Huang, X., Feng, C., Tian, N., Xu, D., Feng, S.-Z. (2010): Multicellular genesis of leaf primordium was demonstrated via chimaeric transgenic plant of maize (*Zea mays* L.) regenerated from Type II calli. *Molecular Biology Reports* 37, 3525–3531. doi: 10.1007/s11033-009-9946-z.
- Yadava, P., Abhishek, A., Singh, R., Singh, I., Kaul, T., Pattanayak, A., Agrawal, P.K. (2017): Advances in Maize Transformation Technologies and Development of Transgenic Maize. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 7, 1–12. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2016.01949.
- Yuan, Z.-C. (2012): A Really Useful Pathogen, *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. *The Plant Cell* 24, 1–7. doi: 10.1105/tpc.112.tt1012.
- Zhang, S., Dong, J.G., Wang, T., Guo, S., Glassman, K., Ranch, J., Nichols, S.E. (2007): High level accumulation of α-glucan in maize kernels by expressing the gtfD gene from Streptococcus mutans. *Transgenic Research* **16**, 467–478. doi: 10.1007/s11248-006-9049-8.
- Zhang, S., Williams-Carrier, R., Lemaux, P. (2002): Transformation of recalcitrant maize elite inbreds using in vitro shoot meristematic cultures induced from germinated seedlings. *Plant Cell Reports* 21, 263–270. doi: 10.1007/s00299-002-0513-5.
- Zhao, Z., Gu, W., Cai, T., Tagliani, L., Hondred, D., Bond, D., Rudert, M., Pierce, D. (2001): High throughput genetic transformation mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* in maize. *Molecular Breeding* 8, 323–333.
- Zhi, L., TeRonde, S., Meyer, S., Arling, M.L., Register III, J.C., Zhao, Z.-Y., Jones, T.J., Anand, A. (2015): Effect of *Agrobacterium* strain and plasmid copy number on transformation frequency, event quality and usable event quality in an elite maize cultivar. *Plant Cell Reports* 34, 745–754. doi: 10.1007/s00299-014-1734-0.
- Zhong, H., Elumalai, S., Nalapalli, S., Richbourg, L., Prairie, A., Bradley, D., Dong, S., Su, X.J., Gu, W., Strebe, T., Shi, L., Que, Q. (2018): Advances in *Agrobacterium*-mediated Maize Transformation. In: *Maize*. (Lagrimini, L.M., ed.), Springer New York, New York, NY, 41– 59. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7315-6 3.
- Zhong, H., Srinivasan, C., Sticklen, M.B. (1992): In-vitro morphogenesis of corn (Zea mays L.). Planta 187, 483–489.

- Zhong, H., Sun, B., Warkentin, D., Zhang, S., Wu, R., Wu, T., Sticklen, M.B. (1996): The Competence of Maize Shoot Meristems for Integrative Transformation and Inherited Expression of Transgenes. *Plant Physiology* 110, 1097–1107. doi: 10.1104/pp.110.4.1097.
- Zuo, J., Niu, Q.-W., Frugis, G., Chua, N.-H. (2002): The WUSCHEL gene promotes vegetativeto-embryonic transition in Arabidopsis. *The Plant Journal* 30, 349–359. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-313X.2002.01289.x.

7 LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- 2,4-D 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid
- AMP Ampicillin
- AS Acetosyringone
- AP2 Apetala2 family
- BAP 6-Benzylaminopurine
- bp Base pairs
- BBM Baby Boom
- CPM Callus proliferation medium
- DAP Days after pollination
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- ERF Ethylene responsive element binding factor
- GM Genetically modified
- GUS β -glucoronidase
- HPGG High pressure gene gune
- HYG Hygromycine
- IAA Indole-3-acetic acid
- IE Immature embryo
- KAN Kanamycin
- KIN Kinetin
- ME Mature embryo
- MES 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulfonic acid
- MS Murashige and Skoog
- MSC Multi-shoot culture
- MT Metric tonne
- MTX Methatrexate
- NAA 1-Naphthaleneacetic acid
- NOS Agrobacterium nopaline synthase
- OC Organizing center
- PEG Polyethyleneglycol
- RIF Rifampicine

- SAM Shoot apical meristem
- SE Somatic embryo
- SMC Shoot meristem culture
- SNP Single nucleotide polymorphism
- SPE Spectinomycine
- TIM Timentin
- TE Transformation efficiency
- UBI Ubiquitin
- WOC Week of cultivation
- WUS Wuschel
- X-Gluc 5-Bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl-β-D-glucuronide
- YEB Yeast extract beef